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Chairman’s Message

The consumer rights and protection landscape has changed beyond
recognition since the establishment of the Consumer Council in the
1970s. Today’s consumers are far more self-empowered, yet some are
still vulnerable. With one-third of our population now being over 60,
the need to strengthen protection for elderly consumers has become a
critical task. Meanwhile, the exponential growth of online transactions
presents us with unprecedented challenges, bringing new business
practices which require a completely different and multi-pronged
approach to educating consumers and safeguarding their interests.

The number and complexity of scams that online consumers encounter
are growing by the minute. The same undesirable trade practices seen
in the traditional marketplace are also present in online transactions,
but with additional risks to the integrity of consumers’ personal
data. The ultimate goal of the Council is to bring about a safe and
trustworthy digital shopping environment that is mutually beneficial to
consumers and traders.
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In the year under review, unfair trade practices continued to be observed
in the traditional marketplace, with complaints received by the Council
once again rising, notably from unscrupulous and high-pressure sales
tactics in fitness centres and beauty services. One of the cornerstones of
consumer rights protection is regulatory enforcement. When complaints
of undesirable trade practices are received, the Council will useits power
to sanction traders, including naming and reprimanding, if . deemed
appropriate. Coupled with the advocacy of a mandatory cooling-off
period, the Council aims to mitigate malpractices and foster a win-win for
all — the traders who will amass loyal consumers, the consumers who will
receive quality products and services, and Hong Kong which will ré‘tain its
regional edge as a preferred shopping destination.

In April 2018, the Council published the “Report to Advocate Mandéjcory
Cooling-Off Period” to strengthen consumer protection by calling for
the introduction of a mandatory cooling-off period in Hong Kong.' A
sectoral approach was recommended covering contracts for unsolicited
off-premises transactions, distance sales, fitness and beauty services

and time share arrangements. The Government responded positively .
and launched a 3-month public consultation in January 2019. Subject -

to the outcome of the consultation, the Government plans to introduce
the relevant bill to the Legislative Council in the 2019-20 session. The
Council looks forward to the early passage of this legislation, which will
be an effective deterrent to unfair trade practices and help create a
fairer and healthier consumer marketplace for Hong Kong.

Given the city’s ageing population, the Council sees the necessity to
scale up its efforts in protecting elderly consumers in our community.
An ageing society can contribute to social and economic progress,
as longevity also brings new opportunities for development in the
“silver economy” including health and nutrition, leisure and well-being,
financial services and education. However, the physical and cognitive
deterioration of elderly consumers places them in a less advantaged
position, making them vulnerable to unfair trade practices.

Our report “Advocacy of Building an Age-friendly Consumption
Environment”, published in October last year, showed that the majority
of elderly consumers in Hong Kong remain socially active with substantial
consumption power, yet there are limited choices of products suited
to them in the market, and they might be vulnerable to unscrupulous
trade practices. It also revealed that nearly 1 in 4 elderly consumers
" encountered unpleasant experiences in consumption in the past year
such as dishonest retailers, insufficient information about goods/services
or the sudd\e‘n\dqs\ure of retail stores.
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We hope the findings of this report will help arouse public concern
to address the drawbacks faced by our elderly consumers, and foster
opportunities of creating a vibrant “silver market”. In particular,
leadership from the Government is essential to embrace consumer
protection as part of its holistic approach in formulating elderly-
related policies. For example, we recommend studying the needs of
elderly consumers, and raising awareness among businesses and other
stakeholders of accommodating these needs.

Each year hordes of students from Hong Kong travel abroad for
education; however, the vast amount of overseas study information
available in the market, the search process for institutions and
courses, as well as the subsequent application procedures, often prove
cumbersome for students and their parents.

The Council’s report “Are Students Protected? An In-depth Look Into
Overseas Education Advisory Services”, published in June 2018, was the
first detailed study into this business sector. It revealed that certain so-
called “consultants” providing education advice services were in fact
acting as the agents for overseas institutions, hence might not truly
be working in the best interests of consumers to help them make the
right choice. It also uncovered a lack of information transparency in the
industry and the absence of contractual obligations for such advisory
services, which greatly hampers consumers’ efforts to seek redress when
needed. The Council calls on the industry to enhance its transparency,
strengthen its code of conduct and accreditation of consultants,
promote the use of service contracts and introduce a complaint redress
mechanism to safeguard consumer rights and interests.

With technological advancement and tourism development bringing
rapid expansion in cross-boundary transactions, the Council has been
active in forging ties with consumer organisations across boundaries.
During the year, the Council signed 20 Memoranda of Understanding
(MoUs) with our counterparts in the Mainland to exchange intelligence
on consumer issues and strengthen mutual support for the resolution
of consumer disputes. Also in June 2018, in our efforts to promote
better protection for outbound travellers, we signed a MoU with the
National Consumer Affairs Centre of Japan after a year of liaison and
preparation. This is the second MoU the Council has signed with a non-
Mainland counterpart, following an agreement with the Korea Consumer
Agency the year before. More MOUs and regional collaboration will be
developed to enhance dispute resolution in Asia.

Technology is also bringing rapid evolution to the consumption
environment. Digital innovations continue to move at lightning speed,
transforming the nature of shopping and altering how consumers
interact and transact with product and service providers, as well as with
each other. Consumer choices in this information-intensive, choice-rich
environment can be impaired by challenges relating to misleading or
high-pressure business practices, or by security system loopholes in the
businesses. A number of high-profile data leakage incidents have clearly
signified the urgent need to tighten regulatory requirements on data
security and privacy protection.
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While digitisation has opened up new opportunities, they should not be
embraced to the detriment of consumers who are often not fully aware
of their-rights, or the remedies available when their rights are infringed.
The/Government, regulators and the industry need to ensure consumers
- have access to clear information and education about converged services
so they can make informed choices. Proper regulations, the industry’s
self-discipline, as well as consumer education, can encourage a healthy
digital marketplace where consumers and traders can exchange products
and services with confidence — but these have to be proportionate and
sufficiently flexible to accommodate future innovation.

Consumer trust breeds loyalty, which helps sustain businesses and ensure
the success of both traditional and digital marketplaces. Like consumer
protection agencies in many other jurisdictions, the Council must
continue to keep abreast of the latest development in trade practices and
consumption behaviour, given the major challenges the digital age poses
to the effective protection of consumer rights in our society.

Looking ahead, the Council has finalised a 3-year strategic plan covering
2019-22, which encompasses 6 major goals guiding the development
and direction of its consumer protection work. Notably, the Council will
continue to strengthen its capabilities in consumer protection to meet the
needs and challenges of the digital consumption environment. Dedicated
advocacy work in areas that pose significant and long-term impact to
consumers, as well as in safeguarding the interests of youth and elderly
consumers, is also our priority in consumer empowerment. With regard
to information dissemination, the Council will maintain its commitment to
providing impartial and credible information to facilitate more informed
and greener consumption. We will also make efforts to explore more
effective means of reaching young consumers online by reviewing the
development plan and content strategy of the Council’s digital platforms.

Finally, | wish to take this opportunity to thank our Council members,
our Chief Executive and our staff for their dedication and commitment.
| must also pay tribute to past Chairmen, Council members and ex-
colleagues who have made invaluable contributions in the past four-and-
a-half decades to build a strong foundation for the Council and establish
very strong public trust in the work we do. | am most honoured to be
appointed as Chairman of the Council on the year of its 45" anniversary.
| shall endeavour to ensure that the Council will continue to perform
its duty with tenacity, moving resolutely with the times to safeguard
consumer rights and interests in the years ahead.

Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SC
Chairman
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Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han
Chief Executive
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the Chief Executive
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Consumers today live in a world of accelerated digital connectivity, within
a digital marketplace that c/at/ers to virtually everything that the traditional
marketplace may offer, from clothes to food, accommodation to transport.
Clearly, in a closely connected consumer world, the imperative for the Council
to build greater trust between the consumers and businesses has become
ever more crucial. ~

In the year u/n'der review, the Council has advocated for a mandatory
cooling-off period in Hong Kong. We have also campaigned for an age-
friendly consumption environment for the growing elderly population who
are vuln,er'able to age exploitation and unfair trade practices. Likewise for
our young students, we would want fair and mutually beneficial overseas
education advisory service be provided to facilitate their quest of further
edugzétion abroad. Hopefully, our findings and recommendations published
in the study reports on these 3 areas will contribute to positive change in the
coming years.
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The year'a'head promises to be as productive as it is challenging. The
_-Council has set its policy directions in the way forward with a new 3-year
strategic development blueprint 2019-22, a continuation of the preceding
strategic plan 2016-19, which sets a target of 5 goals and 21 key focus
areas. | am delighted to report that we were able to achieve the target
up to 91% either fully completed or in good progress in different fronts of
the Council’s work including policy advocacy, information dissemination,
digital communications and dispute resolution.

As a consumer watchdog, we are resolute and vigilant in keeping tabs
on the marketplace for unfair practices and early signs of emerging
trends, scams or frauds. The year saw a welcome 2% drop, year on
year, in the overall consumer complaints (25,326 cases). Despite the
drop, a sharp increase in complaints related to “medical services”
was recorded, surging 213% to 2,436 cases, with nearly 90% of the
complainants being Mainland tourists. The disputes were triggered by
a supply shortage of HVP vaccines, which subsequently led to business
closure of a vaccination service provider. Continuing on an escalating
trend were online shopping complaints, up 8% to 4,795 cases, with
“Travel and Accommodation” and “Late/Non-delivery/Loss of goods
and services ordered” accounting for the most complaints (45%).

In November 2018, the Council named a beauty centre “Pretty Beauty”
for malpractices, including undesirable inducements and high-pressure
sales tactics to bind consumers into costly treatment, misleading
contract terms and charges, and refusal to provide redress to even
the mentally impaired consumers. The beauty service industry is one
of the sectors covered under the Government’s mandatory cooling-
off period proposal. The public naming has further highlighted the
severity of the problem and demonstrated once again the pressing
need for early implementation of the related legislation.

The year also saw a major boost to our complaints services as the Council
renovated the Consumer Council Services Centre in Tsim Sha Tsui and re-
opened it in December last year. The refurbished 3-storey centre in a
prime shopping location of Kowloon, favoured by both locals and tourists,
effectively consolidated our resources to enhance the Council’s service in
answering consumer enquiries and addressing complaint cases.

As a consumer advocate, the Council keeps up a stream of test,
survey and in-depth study reports for publication and information
dissemination in a timely manner.  In the year under review, the
Council released a total of 54 reports in its popular monthly CHOICE
Magazine with extensive media coverage achieved.
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As the Council marked the 500th issue of CHOICE’i/n June 2018, it
signified our commitment and perseverance in providing the most
trusted consumer information in Hong Kong to help consumers make
informed choice in their purchase and use of a broad and diverse range
of goods and services, and a host of ot/he/r livelihood issues.

A review of the reports published/fn the year indicated that food safety
ranked top among other issues, with 11 test reports on food products:
butter and margarine, breadl, honey, tofu, organic snacks, tea-based
beverages, to name a few. The best-selling title of the year went to the test
report on honey while thé report on butter and margarine was voted by
the public as one of this year’s Top 10 Consumer News, an annual contest
for consumers to votgfor the news they are the most concerned about.

To keep pace wifh changing online behaviour, the online platform
of CHOICE subscription site was revamped and launched in March
2019. The upgraded platform embraced mobile responsive interface,
user-friendly navigation, faster loading time and enhanced customer
service. Fu/r/ther, work is in progress to revamp the Council’s website in
combination with the CHOICE online platform into one single portal for
easy access, and to create synergy and enhance readership.

In the field of consumer education, our strategy continued to focus
on the elderly and youth. In the year under review, 90 educational
seminars and talks specifically tailored for the elderly were held, drawing
a vast audience of more than 4,000 participants. In order to engage and
interact with a wider elderly audience, we have embarked on an Elderly
Consumer District Forum as a pilot programme for the elderly to share
their concerns and real-life experiences. Ultimately, our goal is to create
an age-friendly consumption environment beneficial to both the elderly
and the growth of a robust healthy silver economy across Hong Kong.

On the youth front, we are encouraged by the positive feedback and
active participation by 31 primary schools in a new initiative to instil
in the young heightened awareness of their roles and responsibilities
as consumers in making sustainable choices. The experiential learning
programme launched in the 2018-19 academic year was made possible
with a 2-year funding support from the Environment and Conservation
Fund. On the secondary level, for nearly 2 decades, the Consumer
Culture Study Awards, the flagship annual event, has inspired over

76,000 students from 358 secondary schools in developing p05|t|ve o

consumer values and attitudes.
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In a globalised consumer world it is clearly important,to/ keep abréast\
of international developments and collaboration. As a board member -

of the Consumers International (Cl), apart from ’éuarding its strategic
development and governance actively, the Council supported its annual
campaign World Consumer Rights Day and published an editorial in the
CHOICE Magazine calling on consumers to strengthen the security of
internet connected products at home to anchor the theme “Trusted
Smart Products” this year. In the year, the Council participated in the
3" Cross-strait Consumer Protection Symposium held in May 2018, to
exchange experiences and views on key issues of common concern
such as drugs safety, mobile payments and sustainable consumption.

This year 2019 marks the 45" anniversary of the Council, a perfect
timing as we start a new strategic plan for the next 3 years with
renewed vision and vigour to anticipate and meet the challenges that
the consumers face in the evolving marketplace.

“In closing, | must express my personal gratitude and heartfelt
appreciation to the former Chairman of the Council, Prof. Wong Yuk-
shan, SBS, BBS, JP for his distinguished leadership and wise counsel
and guidance. And my most sincere thanks to the Council Members
and Co-opted Members who have retired from the Council, for their
invaluable contributions in our work. | would also like to take this
opportunity to warmly welcome our new Chairman, Mr. Paul Lam Ting-
kwok, SC, and Council Members and Co-opted Members who joined us
in January this year. | look forward to working closely and productively
with you all. Last but not least, | am fortunate to be supported by a
dedicated and professional management team and staff, for which |
am enormously grateful.

Gilly WONG Fung-han
Chief Executive
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Management Team of the Consumer Council
HEBSEZEZEIEE (1.4.2018 - 31.3.2019)

Chief Executive Deputy Chief Executive
LS BlfERE

Ms Gilly WONG Funa-han Mr Eddy TONG Chi-chung Mr Simon CHUI Chun-king
i ung- i
i iR RIERGEE
=h (since 2018.11.13 #E) (up to & 2019.01.01)

Head of Legal Affairs Division Principal Research & Survey Officer Principal Public Affairs Officer
Ms Terese AU-YEUNG Kar-wai Dr Keith KWOK Wing-yin Ms Deanna CHEUNG Kin-wah
EEEBHERIE MRNEESREFEE AHEBHREREE

BpmZat KB ERELLT

Principal Complaints & Advice Officer Principal Planning & Trade Practices Officer Head of Human Resources Division
Ms Sana LAl Tik-shan Dr Victor HUNG Tin-yau Mr LEE Wing-kai
KR MR ERE T FERBEFLEHHERIAL ANEREIEE(E
i+ REREEL FKERE

Head of Finance & Administration Division Head of Information Technology Division Head of Consumer Education Division
Ms Stephanie LING Yee-mi Mr Ricky NG Chi-wah Ms Carmen NG Ka-man
A RATBGER R EfRHR AR HEERBHEEIE
RS L REERSE RRELL
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The Consumer Council x
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The Consumer Council is
Hong Kong's leading consumer
protection organisation, providing
a comprehensive range of consumer
information and empowerment services,
as well as conducting research and actively
advocating for consumers' rights.

ERHEEHBNAR HEEREE—

BERORREMERLE REEER
HEENRE WARTHEE

BEARERNBCHE-

The Consumer Council is a statutory body established in 1974. Pursuant BEERERRINIOT4E  BREBNEEH

to the Consumer Council Ordinance (Cap. 216), the Council’s functions BoRE CHBEREREME) (£2165)  HE

are to protect and promote the interests of consumers of goods ‘%E@Hﬁﬁ%%{%ﬁﬁ&ﬁ?ﬁ‘ﬁ%%ﬂﬂ&i%ﬁ’\]iﬁ%%%

and services, and purchasers, mortgagors and lessees of immovable HoLIRES- TEW&7?<$HZQ§DEA15’\J%E o

property by: HEaeaE: ’

¢ collecting, receiving and disseminating information concerning goods R - M//b s
and services and immovable property; ’ ij iﬁ”&&{vﬁﬁ;@ﬁm BERAREN

e receiving and examining complaints and giving advice to consumers ,;u i s 4 O o =
of goods and services, and purchasers, mortgagors and lessees of c BUREEG M &/E&%E’\j HBEERS UK
immovable property; REEEE A BRBARAEANKS L[

| T, | R fefREER:

e taking such action as it thinks justified by the information in its o ~ )
possession, including tendering advice to the Government or to any s REFMSENRINEETE BRRABTN
public officer; FEAABAERKRER:

¢ encouraging business and professional associations to establish codes s HEEEREXBEHNITLETA HEBT
of practice to regulate the activities of their members; and SERE); LUK

« undertaking such other functions as the Council may adopt with the s AEAARREBENTRETRREERT

prior approval of the Chief Executive in Council of the Government. e A E AL -

15



Consumer Council Membership

The Council comprises a Chairperson, a Vice Chairperson'and not

more than 20 other I\/Ienjt;e,rsz/appo/iritéd by the Chief Executive of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for a term not exceeding
2 years.. Members may be reappointed upon the expiry of their

_respective terms of office.

In the year under review, Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SC succeeded Prof.
WONG Yuk-shan, SBS, BBS, JP as the Council Chairman upon Prof.
Wong'’s retirement on 31 December 2018. 6 new members joined the
Council: Mr Edward HO Man-tat, Mr Victor LAM Hoi-cheung, JP, Mr
Matthew LAM Kin-hong, MH, Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun, Dr LUl Wing-cheong
and Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze, and 3 others joined the Council as Co-opted
Members: Ms Rachael SIU Suk-yu, Ms Sara TONG See-pui and Mr
Martin WONG Wing-hoi. 4 Co-opted Members — Mr Kelvin KWOK Hiu-
fai, Dr LO Pui-yin, Prof. PUN Kong-pang and Dr Michael TSUI Fuk-sun,
MH, continued to serve the Council in the same position upon expiry
of their terms of appointment as Co-opted Members.

The Council would like to express its gratitude to 6 retired Council
Members: Ms Grace CHAN Man-yee, Ms Jo CHAN Shuk-fong, Dr
Raymond LEUNG Siu-hong, Mr Keith LIE Kin-fu, Dr Karen SHUM Hau-
yan and Prof. WONG Kam-fai for their unrelenting commitment and
dedication during their terms of office.

Special tribute was paid to Prof. WONG Yuk-shan for his enormous and
significant contributions to the Council. During his term from 2013 to
2018, Prof. Wong had served as either the Chairperson or Convenor
of 4 other committees/working groups, including the Staff & Finance
Committee, Preliminary Working Group on Class Actions, Working
Group on Sustainable Consumption Programme, and the Board of
Administrators of the Consumer Legal Action Fund. Apart from his
leadership role at the Council, he also acted as a spokesperson on many
occasions including, but not limited to, the CHOICE press conferences.

Council and Committees

The Council operates with a committee structure comprising 12
Committees and Working Groups®. Full Council meetings are held on a
bi-monthly basis.

The Council co-opts professionals of different disciplines as members
of relevant committees or working groups in order to benefit from
their expertise and to facilitate studies in specific fields.

The Council administers the Consumer Legal Action Fund via a Board
of Administrators and a Management Committee.
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1 See Appendix 1 for the list of former Chairpersons and Vice Chairpersons of the Council. FEfE=EfE X8I EfFE R S BiE— -
2 See Appendix 2 for the list of Full Council Members and Co-opted Members. &8 N2 FE L8 B — -
3 See Appendix 3 for the full list of Committees and Working Groups. ZE& & T {E/ AR E 2B RIfiE= -
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In 2018-19, the Council, in a continued pursuit for enhancing consumer
protection through advocacy, published 3 study reports — “A Report to
Advocate Mandatory Cooling-off Period in Hong Kong”, “Are Students
Protected? An In-depth Look into Overseas Education Advisory
Services” and “Risk or Opportunity — A Study on Building an Age-
friendly Consumption Environment”, which attracted considerable
. \media attention and initiated extensive public discussion on the
fefateql issues. The Council’s recommendations on mandatory cooling-
off period were taken into account by the Government. Subject to the
outcome of fhéthree—month public consultation which ended in April
2019, the Government.plans to introduce the relevant bill to Legislative
Council in the 2019-20 legislative session.

The Council extends its utmost‘a\ppreciation and gratitude to the
respective committees for their valued views, suggestions and support
rendered in the process of discussion, draftmg and publication of the
abovementioned reports.

In the year under review, Mr Thomas CHENG Kin-hon, MH, Mr John
CHIU Chi-yeung, JP, Mr Francis FONG Po-kiu and Dr Max WONG Wai-
lun retired as Co-opted Members. The Council expresses its sincere
gratitude for their support and expertise contributed to the Counecil.

The Council Office

Under the leadership of the Council’s Chief Executive, the Council
Office, manned by 144 members of staff, operates with 9 functional
divisions, namely Complaints and Advice Division, Consumer Education
Division, Finance and Administration Division, Human Resources
Division, Information Technology Division, Legal Affairs Division,
Planning and Trade Practices Division, Public Affairs Division, and
Research and Survey Division®.

The Council is an equal opportunities employer; the number of

employees with disabilities represented 0.7% of the Council Office’s
permanent staff in 2018-19.

Finance

. The Council derives its income mainly from a Government subvention.

Other sources of income (approximately 3.9%) include proceeds from
sales ‘of the Council’s CHOICE Magazine and interest income. Total
recurrent and non-recurrent expenditures for the year under review
was HK$119.27 million and HK$7.88 million respectively’.
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4 See Appendix 4 for the organisation chart of the Council. #H#5Z24% B [fy#xI0 o

5 See Appendix 5 for the Auditor's Report and Financial Statements for the accounts of the Council for 2018-19.
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Resolving Disputes between
Consumers and Businesses

RIS HEBHERE
2 [8 89l

Complaints and Enquiries Received

The Council received 76/,377 enquiries and 25,326 complaints in 2018-
19, representing an 8% and 2% year-on-year (YoY) decrease respectively.
Some 87% of er)q'uiries were made by telephone, whereas complaints
made via the Council’s website and email saw a rising trend from 55%
(14,110 case/s)’ in 2017-18 to 60% (15,250 cases) in 2018-19.

Compl,aints Statistics Breakdown

Complaints relating to medical services reached a record high of 2,436
cases during the year of which nearly 90% of the complaints involved
failure to provide HPV vaccination services by medical centres in Hong
Koné. There was also a notable increase in the number of complaints
relating to Foods & Entertainment Services (20%), Ginseng and Chinese
Herbal Medicine (27%) and Car/Bike Services (165%). Complaints
involving Late/Non-delivery/Loss (4,223 cases) and Sales Practices (3,993
cases) rose by 60% and 10%, respectively. Nearly 50% of the allegedly
Late/Non-delivery/Loss cases were related to vaccination services while
the increase of complaints in Sales Practices mainly involved tourists.

IRER R AR
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With its highly accessible consumer advisory
and complaints service, the Council supports
consumers to seek redress via conciliation, whereby
disputes are resolved through mutually acceptable
agreements. ‘While the Council is not a law enforcement
agency and does not hold investigative powers, it is in close
liaison with the authorities on information exchange to facilitate
law enforcement action to combat unscrupulous trade practices.
The Council also actively monitors the marketplace and releases

timely alerts to consumers.

HERERMIFEERENEERDMIFRY b EEEZER
AERSKFREHITREZINNBELE - BEFTLIFH
EHF AEFREEN E-ERGHERMENER
FERESE BEENETEH TBTREBFE-
AENTRABEETSLE LERFRAR

BHREER-

Because of the increasing complexity of consumer disputes, elevated
expectations of complainants, and uncooperative attitude of traders
in specific trade sectors, the success rate in case resolutions dropped
from 73% to 66% YoY (See Fig. 4). It was more difficult to obtain redress
in disputes involving Foods & Entertainment Services, Fitness Centres,
Telecommunications Equipment, and Beauty Services. In general, if
traders refused to settle the case, the complainants would be advised to
seek redress via alternative channels, including civil legal action.

According to the complaint information, unscrupulous and high-pressure
sales tactics were prevalent in Fitness Centres (452 cases) and Beauty
Services (322 cases), but the rate of successful resolution of disputes in
these 2 sectors was only 46% and 61% respectively, which was much
lower than that of the historical average rate of around 70%. Therefore,
the Council strongly advocated the introduction of a mandatory
cooling-off period in the service contracts of these 2 industries to act
as a deterrent to traders or their representatives from engaging in
undesirable sales tactics.

Top 5 Complaint Categories

1. Telecommunications Services

Telecommunications Services remained at the top of the list, with
2,672 cases in 2018-19, despite a substantive YoY decrease of 15%. The
disputes mainly involved Mobile and Fixed-line Telephone Charges (41%),
followed by Quality of Services in respect of Reception/Connectivity
problems and Customer Support (27%), and Sales Practices in promoting
new service plans (15%).
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2. Medical Services

There were 2,436 cases involving complaint§ relating to medical services,
an increase of 3 times YoY, reaching a historical\high. Nearly 90% of the
cases were lodged by Mainland tourists in the wake of a shortage of HPV
vaccines at some clinics and medical organisations in H‘oqg Kong, which
resulted in failure to perform the vaccination services as scheduled. The
majority of the pursuable cases (88%) were resolved with a rescheduled
date for vaccinations or a proportional refund. B

3. Travel Matters

Travel related complaints was the third-highest category, with 2,333
cases recorded, representing a YoY decrease of 11%. The bulk of the
complaints involved air tickets (36%), hotel bookings (19%) and airline
services (18%). The key complaint areas were Quality of Services (38%),
Price Disputes (26%), and Late/Non-delivery/Loss of Services (12%).

4. Electrical Appliances

Complaints about electrical appliances ranked fourth, with 1,773
cases, a slight YoY increase of 2%. The most common subjects of
complaints were television sets (17%), air-conditioners (16%) and
washing machines (11%). The main areas of concern were Quality of
Goods (30%), and Repair/Maintenance Services (29%).

5. Foods & Entertainment Services

The number of complaints rose by 20% to 1,479 cases, mainly due to
disputes about ticketing arrangements for public performances, of
which a substantial 400% increase was shown, and cases involving
Sales Practices increased by 39% YoY.

Fig. 1 Complaint Trends in the Past 3 Years
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Fig. 2 Top 10 Consumer Complaints on Industries in 2018-19
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Fig. 3 Nature of Consumer Complaints in 2018-19
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Fig. 4 Resolution Rate of Cases with Pursuable Grounds in 2018-19
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Trends of Consumer Complaints

Rise in Cross-border Consumer Activities

The number of tourist complaints rose rapidly from 2,828 in 2017-
18 to 4,715 cases in 2018-19, with a 67% YoY increase. 43% of the
tourist complaints were lodged by Mainland visitors against.
private clinics and medical organisations in Hong Kong
concerning vaccination services, which were actively
promoted to Mainland consumers through agents,

but ended up in failure to perform the service as
scheduled due to insufficient number of vaccines.
Tourist complaints also involved malpractice in

the sales of ginseng, bird’s nest, dried seafood and
Chinese herbal medicine (538 cases), travel related
matters (310 cases) and Foods and Entertainment
Services (285 cases).

Online Shopping Complaints Continues to Rise

Disputes relating to online shopping were on the rise again,

totalling 4,795 cases in 2018-19, up by 8% YoY. Leading the complaints
in this category were Travel & Accommodation (1,407 cases) and Late/
Non-delivery/Loss of products or services ordered (1,233 cases). The
next most common categories were Foods and Entertainment Services
(410 cases), and Computer Products (305 cases).

Cross-boundary Dispute Resolution

The rise in tourist complaints and online shopping reflected the
rapid growth in cross-boundary consumer activities. To improve
the effectiveness in handling associated disputes, which are often
hindered by language barriers, and geographical and jurisdictional
problems, the Council has sought to establish a Consumer Dispute
Referral Mechanism with the consumer protection bodies in the

67
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6 Anonymous complaints, cases with insufficient information, and complaints outside the Council's terms of reference are in general non-pursuable.
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Mainland and different parts of Asia. In 2018-19, the Council signed
a series of Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with 20 provinces/
cities in the Mainland for complaint referral. The Council also started
discussing with counterparts in individual cities in the Greater Bay
Area and was prepared to expand the scope of collaboration in dispute
resolution with the neighbouring cities.

In June 2018, the Council signed a MoU for cooperation with the National
Consumer Affairs Centre of Japan, similar to the one signed with the
Korea Consumer Agency in May 2017. Under the agreement, consumers
will be able to file their complaints to their local consumer body which will
refer their cases to suitable counterparts for follow-up. The Consumer
Dispute Referral Mechanism greatly enhances consumers’ rights and
interests in cross-border transactions, including online purchases.

Naming Sanction

In November 2018, the Council named a beauty service group, the
Pretty Beauty Centre, for adopting various undesirable trade practices
that resulted in serious financial loss and mental distress to aggrieved
consumers. The complainants alleged that the company had lured
them to patronize the centre by subjecting them to high-pressure
sales tactics for expensive treatment packages, misleading them in
the terms of contract and charges, and exaggerating the effect of the
beauty services. Despite repeated attempts by the Council to resolve
the complaints, the company adopted an uncooperative attitude

and showed no sign of improvement in its services. To rectify the -

undesirable situation, the Council publicly named and reprimanded the
Pretty Beauty Centre, and urged the company to cease and desist from
engaging in any further unscrupulous sales practices. The naming
action drew strong public support and wide media intenési.
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Improving Product
Quality and Safety

‘Research and Test Reports

A total of 54 testing, survey and research reports were published °

in the Council’s monthly CHOICE Magazine during the year. When
products were found to be non-compliant with Hong Kong regulations
or international standards, the Council notified the relevant regulatory
authorities for immediate follow-up action, and called on the
manufacturers and their agents to rectify the faults and improve the
products. Over the years, such market monitoring mechanisms had
proven to be effective in facilitating law enforcement and driving
different businesses to improve their product quality and services.

Types of Product Tests

"~ The Council contracts internationally recognised laboratories or

24

collaborates with Government departments to conduct tests on over a
thousand products in the year. As an active member of the International
Consufngr Research & Testing (ICRT), which is an international
consortium of more than 35 consumer organisations, the Council has
full access to: ICRT product tests, through which valuable resources and
experience from other markets are shared and effectively applied.

Food

Consumers are genér\ally getting increasingly health conscious. Meeting
such consumer needs, the Council increased its resources in testing
popular food products in Hong Kong, including butter and margarine,
cookies and sweet pastries, tofu and honey, etc. and advised consumers
on their safety and nutrition levels.

Research &
Test Reports
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7 See Appendix 6 for the lists of testing reports, market survey and in-depth study reports published during 2018-19.
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Product quality and safety are vital to consumer protection. Through its extensive
research and testing programmes, the Council monitors the safety and quality of a
wide spectrum of essential products covering food, household products, electrical
appliances, consumer electronics, cosmetics and personal care items, clothing,
products designed specifically for children and elderly people, and much more.
The Council’s findings empower consumers to make safe, objective and informed

In the year, consumer awareness was drawn to the harmful
contaminants such as glycidol, acrylamide and 3-MCPD commonly
found in bakery products and other food stuff that undergone high-
temperature cooking process. Since these contaminants are classified
as genotoxic carcinogens, the Joint Food and Agriculture Organisation/
World Health Organisation Expert Committee on Food Additives’s
advice to consumers is the less consumption the better.

Butter and Margarine

The Council tested 30 prepackaged models, comprising 9 butter
products, 16 margarine and fat spread products, 4 butter and vegetable
oil blended fat spreads, and 1 shortening product. The content of 2
harmful contaminants, glycidol and 3-MCPD was measured. 18 margarine
models were found to contain from 13 to 640ug/kg of the genotoxic
carcinogen glycidol, and 16 of them had 44 to 1,100ug/kg of the
contaminant 3-MCPD. Because of the genotoxicity and carcinogenicity
of glycidol, consumers were advised to keep their intake of glycidol to as
low as reasonably practicable. With regard to 3-MCPD, according to the
European Food Safety Authority recommendation on the tolerable daily
intake of 2 micrograms, only a sustained daily intake of 24 teaspoons of
the test model with the highest 3-MCPD content (1,100ug/kg) would
exceed the recommended limits. Therefore, with normal consumption,
the impact on health was minimal. The Council urged the authorities to
draw on overseas experience to introduce regulatory oversight in the
application of partially hydrogenated oils in Hong Kong.

Consumers were advised that bad fatty acids, such as saturated
fatty acids and trans fatty acids, can increase the risk
of cardiovascular disease and hence reduction in
consumption was encouraged. All the butter
models were found to have generally high levels

of saturated fatty acids (50.5 to 56.2g/100g),

and 1 margarine model was found to have

saturated fatty acids content (77.2g/100g)
that was even higher than that of the
average of butter. The trans fatty acids
content in the margarine products
tested was relatively low, but most
were processed from artificial and
partially hydrogenated vegetable oils.
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choice in their daily consumption.
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Cookies and Sweet Pastries

The Council tested 58 models of cookies and sweet pastries: 8 palmiers,
3 almond puffs, 9 egg rolls, 9 butter cookies, 11 chocolate cookies, and
18 cookies of other flavours.

The food safety tests included tests for 3 contaminants: glycidol,
acrylamide, and 3-MCPD. The tests showed that only 7 models were
completely free of these 3 contaminants. 40 were found to contain from
3.4 to 1,900ug/kg of glycidol, 42 models were found to contain from 32
to 340ug/kg of acrylamide, and 35 had 11 to 780 ug/kg of 3-MCPD.

The models with high glycidol and 3-MCPD content contained mostly
shortening or refined vegetable oil, while the models with low or no
levels of contaminants detected used butter as fat ingredient.

According to the definition in the Centre for Food Safety (CFS) “Shopping
Cards”, all 58 models were found to be “high in sugar” or “high in fat”;
48 were high in sugar (more than 15g of sugar per 100g of solid food); 56
were high in fat (more than 20g of total fat per 100g of solid food); and
46 were found to be high in both sugar and fat.

The Council stressed that food safety and health are crucial consumer
rights and urged manufacturers to improve their recipes and production
process to offer a wider range of consumer choices. Despite the obvious
benefits of unsaturated fatty acids, consumer should refrain from eating
too many cookies and sweet pastries with nuts and seeds to avoid
excessive intake of fats and calories.

Tea-based Beverages

Joined with the CFS, the Council tested 8 models of non-prepackaged
tea products for their sugar content. The test found the sugar content
of the 78 non-prepackaged original flavour models ranged from 1.4 to
11g/100g. On average, Passion Fruit Black Tea had the highest sugar
content and (cheese) Milk Foam Green Tea had the lowest.

The test revealed that the sugar content per cup in 5 models reached
50g or more, which means that drinking a whole cup would exceed the
World Health Organisation recommended daily limit on sugar content.
The model with the highest sugar content per cup in the test was a
Matcha Latte (72g).
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In general, the “no-sugar-added” recipes were found to contain less
sugar than the original flavour, e.g. the “no-sugar-added” Jasmine Green
Tea had an average of 99% less sugar content per 100g. However, for
beverages containing concentrated fruit juice, honey or fruit juice syrup
as essential ingredients, reduction in sugar content in the “no-sugar-
added” recipes was limited.

With regard to Pearl Tapioca Milk Tea, the test found that the average
energy level of a whole cup of original flavour model could reach
400kcal (around 20% of the required calories intake of an average adult),
with over 40% of the energy coming from the pearls.

The Council advised consumers to choose beverages with less sugar
~ content and choose “no-sugar-added” or “less sugar” recipes if available.
Consur}]\ers\sh\o\uld be mindful of the portion size and choose smaller
portion or share drinks with friends.

Electrical Products

Since there are more and more Hong Kong pedple living in tiny flats,
more electrical appliances and devices in compact size have
been launched in the market recently.

Electric Hot Plates

The Council conducted a test to evaluate the safety
and performance of 9 electric hot plates, with prices
ranged from $599 to $998.

None of the test models was in full compliance with
the latest international safety standards, as all of
them were found unsatisfactory in temperature rise,
while 8 were found to have inadequate insulation
distance. Also, the leakage current of 2 models was
relatively high when operated at 1.15 times of the
rated power input. Other non-compliance regarding. -~
product safety was found in abnormal operat'rdn,
protection against access to live parts, pr/oVi/sion for
earthing, etc. The test results were forwarded to the Electrical
and Mechanical Services Department for follow-up.

On grilling performance, the food browning of 1 model was relatively
uneven. After pre-heating,the highest temperature discrepancy
recorded on the models at'5 different positions of the flat plate ranged
from 35.4°Ct0 61.1°C, reflecting an uneven heat distribution.

USB Travel Adéptors

A test on 10 models of USB travel adaptors revealed that none of them
could pass all safety parameters in test. The overall safety rating of 2
unbranded models was only 2 points or below. Such common defects as

_insufficient insulation distance between the USB transformer and circuit
" were found, which increased risks in circuit breaker or short-circuit; and
non-compliant dimensions of the plug pins with the standard leading to
poor contact and affecting electrical operation. Further, the product
labelling of all models was incomplete with missing warning messages,
such as “Does Not Convert Voltage” and “For Use with Unearthed
Appliances Only”.
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Apart from strengthening enforcement actions, the Council also called
on the manufacturers to immediately improve the design and quality
control of their products. The Council also cautioned consumers to
exercise extra care when selecting USB travel adaptors.

Cosmetics and Personal Care

The Council advised consumers to be vigilant about the presence of
fragrance allergens, as well as skin sensitisation potency of the allergens
and their oxidised compounds in cosmetics and personal care products.
Consumers with sensitive skin may experience temporary redness,
itchiness or skin irritation after use, and some may even develop contact
sensitisation, such as skin rashes or swelling. Because of frequent usage,
the Council called for a closer surveillance on these products
to assess their claims and actual value.

Essential Oils

The Council tested 30 models of essential oils
of lavender, sweet orange and eucalyptus
flavours, which were extracted respectively
from flowers, fruits and leaves. With g 3
reference to the European Union (EU) 5
cosmetics regulations, the test examined
the models for the presence of 26
fragrance allergens. The tests detected
10 different fragrance allergens in the 30
models with each model containing at1east
2allergens. -~

The EU regulations stipulate that products with
any of these 26 allergens exceeding specified
levels must indicate the allergens on their ingredient
lists. The test revealed that the amount of allergens

in all models exceeded the levels set under the EU cosmetics
regulations, but only 4 were labelled with some of the allergens.
Furthermore, 14 models had no detailed dilution instructions for proper
usage on the label or packaging.

The Council was highly concerned about the non-disclosure of
allergens and the lack of dilution instructions, which might expose
consumers to allergic reactions. Manufacturers and traders were
urged to improve their product labelling to safeguard consumer health.

In the test, 24 models were labelled “For External Use Only” or “Not to
be Taken Internally”. Only 1 lavender model was labelled for dietary use,
but no detailed instruction for this use was indicated. The report urged
consumers to exercise due care when using essential oils as flavouring
condiments, and to consume them sparingly to avoid adverse reactions
in any case.

Perfumes

The Council tested 55 models of perfumes, comprising 28 eau de parfum,
23 eau de toilette and 4 eau de cologne, whose prices ranged from $48
to $1,775 a bottle. The test findings revealed that all the perfumes tested
contained 4 to 15 types of fragrance allergens, and 23 models had 10 or
more types of fragrance allergens. The total concentration of fragrance
allergens ranged between 0.17% and 5.35%. 6 models had a relatively
higher total concentration of 3% or more, while 18 models had less than 1%.
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The test also found 17 models contained chemical HICC
(hydroxyisohexyl 3-cyclohexene carboxaldehyde), 15
of them with a concentration of over 0.02%. The
EU’s Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety
recommends that HICC should not be used in the
manufacture of consumer products, pointing out

that even if the HICC concentration in cosmetics

is as low as 0.02%, it should not be regarded as

safe from allergic reactions.

In addition, 11 models were found to contain chemical DEP (diethyl

) phthalate), with concentration ranging from 0.00086% to 1.1%.
Consumers who apply perfumes frequently, in addition to scented
body care products, were advised to pay extra attention to the DEP
content in perfumes.

Toilet Rolls

In a test on 25 models of toilet rolls, the Council found wide variations in
their net weight, number of sheets, total length and area per roll. The
rolls were sold in 10- or 12-roll packs and were priced from an average
of $2.2 to $4.2 per roll.

The models were also put through a series of tests on tensile
strength (dry and wet), and bursting strength. The combined test
results indicated that the 3-ply models were weaker than the 4-ply
rolls. All 4 models of the latter were rated 3 points or above. In
contrast, only 6 out of 21 3-ply models (less than 30%) achieved a
rating of 3 points and above.

Almost half of the models did not provide full product information; and
of the 13 models that provided the weight, more than half (8 models)
were actually weighed less than what were listed on the package. The
Council stressed that consumers have the fundamental right to be
accurately informed with full and truthful information on packaging.

Sanitary Napkins

The Council tested 45 models of sanitary napkins: 21 models were
purportedly suitable for day use and regular menstrual flow; 10 models
were for day/night use, and 14 models were for overnight use.

The test made reference to the Mainland’s mandatory and
recommended standards for sanitary products, a Taiwan’s Standard on
Feminine Sanitary Napkins, and in conjunction with the laboratory to
jointly devise a test method for evaluation of the product performance
from different aspects, including absorption tests and rewet assessment,
based on a simulated usage of the products.

41 models almost fully absorbed the fluid (5ml) within a short time,
indicating good absorption rate, while the remaining 4 absorbed only 3.1g
to 3.6g of fluid, but were still in compliance with the Mainland’s standard.
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In the multiple absorption test, those for day/night use performed the
least satisfactory; 2 of them were saturated upon absorption of their
first dose of artificial menstrual fluid. Although the remaining 8 models
completed the absorption test, the time required varied from 189 to
1,754 seconds, revealing an eight-fold difference.

With consideration of rewet test and multiple absorption test, the
findings showed that the speed of absorption might not necessarily
go hand in hand with the efficacy of keeping the surface dry.
Manufacturers were urged to improve product design to meet both
quality standards.

Household Products
Cot Mattresses

The Council, in conjunction with ICRT, carried out a test on 8 models of
cot mattresses including 3 spring mattresses and 5 foam mattresses.

The firmness of 2 models was found to be inadequate in some positions,
which could result in respiratory problems or even suffocation
should infants roll over and bury their face in the mattress. After the
10,000-cycle durability test, 1 model was found to have inadequate
firmness. 1 model did not comply with the requirement in the safety
standard regarding dimension accuracy, resulting in the danger of
trapping the infant’s limbs, fingers, toes or head in the gap between
the mattress and the cot frame. The test results were referred to the
Customs and Excise Department (C&ED) for investigation and follow-up.

The Council urged manufacturers to improve their mattress designs
to ensure conformity with requirements of the safety standard to
minimise the risk of accidents.

Clothing Products
School Uniforms

A test on 49 models of school uniforms sourced from 22 suppliers
found the presence of azo dyes in 2 models tested. These dyes can
release carcinogenic aromatic amines, so their use has been long
banned in many countries and regions. The safety of school uniforms
is regulated under the Consumer Goods
Safety Ordinance and thus, the test results
were referred to C&ED for investigation l‘m h
and follow-up. The Council urged school ]
of the dyes and to immediately stop
selling any uniforms that were found to
contain such harmful substances. The
Council also suggested the Government to
consider specific legislation to govern the
production of textile products to enhance
consumer protection.
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Furthermore, 8 models were found to contain formaldehyde and 2
had pH values that exceeded the Mainland standard. The Council
strongly recommended that school uniform suppliers should strictly
monitor and control the quality and safety of their products. Schools,
on the other hand, should seek more information about the safety of
the materials used and validate quality as appropriate.

UV Protection Arm Sleeves

A total of 20 models of UV protection arm sleeves, priced from $12 to
$480, were tested for UV protection, cooling and comfort, durability
and accuracy of fabric composition. The test showed that 19 models
had an Ultraviolet Protection Factor (UPF) value of over 50, which
means they are capable of blocking more than 98% of UV sunlight.
Only 1 model was found to have a UPF value of 30, which is capable of
blocking about 97% of UV light. Interestingly, after 10 wash cycles, the
UPF value of that model was found to increase to 50.

12 of the 20 models had an unsatisfactory rating in sweat wicking
and quick drying performance. There was also a vast variation in air
permeability, with a substantial difference between the best and worst
performers of over 50 times. On the other hand, the test found rather
good cooling and comfort performance in the general UV protection
arm sleeves; some were even better than most of the models that
claimed to have a cooling function.

International Comparative Tests

During the year under review, the Council stepped up collaboration
with ICRT and joined forces with consumer associations in other
jurisdictions to conduct international comparative tests on following
products and to advise consumers on selection tips, especially for
expensive or durable products:

e Audio-visual and optical products, including soundbars, bookshelf
speakers, Bluetooth speakers, wireless headphones, omnidirectional
cameras, high-end cameras and interchangeable lens camera kits;

e Computer and telecommunications products, comprising internet
security software, VPN services, mesh type Wi-Fi routers, mobile
security apps, smart phones and tablet PCs;

e Automobiles and other road vehicles and related products
(comprehensive test);

e Household, personal and travel products, such as pushchairs,
chef’s knives and espresso makers; and

e Sports products, including fitness tracker wristbands and
cycling helmets.

In addition to the increasing popularity of the test findings in Hong
Kong, the Council’s reports on products such as cameras, mobile
phones and fitness tracker wristbands were viewed by a considerable
number of visitors from the Council's Shopsmart website, which
targets visitors from the Mainland.
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Product Comparatlve Test on Appllances

Air-conditioners - -

The Council tested 15 models of fixed-capacity cooling-only, window-

type air-conditioners with cooling capacity of 2.58 to 2.65 kilowatts (kW)
orin layman's terms, “1-horsepower”.

In relation to the Cooling Seasonal Performance Factor (CSPF), a ratio
of annual total heat removal to total energy consumption, 1 model had
a notably low CSPF value of 2.62 but the other 14 modefs achieved a

o ratlng between 2.93 and 3.08.

All testedmodels were marketed with Grade-1 label under the Mandatory
Energy Efficiency Labelling but-the tést found only 9 met the Grade 1
requirement. The most expensive model had the lowest CSPF value,
meeting only the Grade 3 rating. The rest were rated Grade 2.

Another crucial performance factor for air-conditioners is their cooling
capacity. The test found that the cooling capacity of the 15 models
ranged from 2.45 kW to 2.62 kW. Only 1 model was measured to be
higher than its claimed value while the claims of the other 14 models
fell short by 1.7% to 7.1%.

Though the discrepancies were within the acceptable limit (10%) of the
code of practice and international practices,
the Council stressed that manufacturers should
continue to improve the accuracy of

its claim in performance.
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Sustainable consumption is one of the most pressing challenges of our
time that affects both the current and the next generation. To educate and
empower consumers in making greener choices for environmental protection,
the Council carries out testing and research to assess the sustainability of
goods and services. It conducts comparative product testing on high energy
appliances, such as air-conditioners and electric storage water heaters, and
undertakes research on sustainability-related issues — for example, children’s
textile products and eco-labelling on snack foods - all of which helps
promote sustainable consumption.
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Electric Storage Water Heaters

The Council and the EMSD conducted a joint-test to evaluate the safety
level and performance of 12 models of electric storage water heaters
with rated input power of 3,000 watts, comprising 6 unvented types
and 6 shower types.

The test found that 6 models classified as Grade 1 under the Voluntary
Energy Efficiency Labelling Scheme (VEELS) had an actual energy
efficiency grading lower than that listed on their labels. The discrepancy
found in 3 models exceeded the permissible limit and subsequently 2
models were deregistered from the scheme.

Measured against the latest grading standard of the VEELS and
calculated on the basis of the test results, only 1 out of 11 single-tank
models was rated Grade 1 in energy efficiency, 5 models were rated
Grade 2 and 5 were rated Grade 4 and below.

Air Purifiers

The deteriorating air quality has made air purifiers a popular home
appliance. The Council tested 12 models of air purifiers with a price
difference of over 5 times from $1,099 to $7,080.

5 of the tested models claimed a larger applicable maximum room
size and 5 models claimed a smaller maximum room size. 2 models
made no claims about applicable room size and were promoted for
their additional functions as electric fans or 2-in-1 air purifying fans.
The test results showed that the claimed applicable room size made
by the manufacturers might not necessarily be useful in determining a
product’s actual capacity to produce clean air.
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In the test, the Clean Air Delivery Rate (CADR) was adopted as the
measure to indicate the effectiveness of a product in delivering
contaminant-free air with a higher value representing a better
performance in removing a specific pollutant from the air. The findings
showed a vast variation in air purifying performance among the tested
models. For instance, the variations in purifying speed among the
models for the removal of cigarette smoke, dust and pollen were 2.8
times, 2.4 times and 4.3 times respectively. In particular, when it came
to removing formaldehyde, the variation in purifying speed among the
models reached a distinctive difference of 26 times.

The findings also showed a considerable difference in energy efficiency
among the tested models. Based on the CADR measured for the removal
of cigarette smoke, dust, pollen and formaldehyde per watt of energy
used, the energy efficiency varied by 86%, 87%, 91% and 93% respectively.

Manufacturers were urged to disclose the CADR on their products, as
well as the test standards adopted, so as to provide objective reference
and information to help consumers choose an air purifier wisely.

Organic Snacks with Eco-labels

The Council collected 30 models of popular snacks, including chocolates,
candies, potato chips, rice cakes, nuts, chestnut and dried fruits, to
examine their nutrition labels and organic certification logos.

The labels on 15 of the 30 models had different organic
certification logos. Most of them bore the European

“of Agr|cu|ture (USDA) (12 models). The rest had
logos from Australia, New Zealand, Japan or Korea.
Some had logos from more than 1 certification body.

Based on the information provided by local suppliers, the
Council found that the certification information or certificates did not
list the brands or product names of the snacks concerned. The Council
urgedywthe certification bodies or food manufacturers to enhance the
transbarency of organic certification to help consumers verify the
organilcl claims made on the food products.

The report also quoted the EU and USDA requirements as examples of
different organic certification systems. In view of the absence of any
specific‘v legislation governing organic food claims in Hong Kong, the
Council advised the Government to refer to overseas experience to
establish clear “organic food” standards and requirements to enhance
information transparency and safeguard consumers’ rights and interests.
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Children’s Textile Products with Eco-Labels

The Council examined the eco-labels of 36 models of textile products
for infants and children, including garments, bibs, hats, blankets, towels,
pads, comforters and textile toys.

The Global Organic Textile Standard (GOTS) and OEKO-TEX Standard
100 were the most prevalent eco-labels found on textile products.
In addition to having a minimum requirement of fibre content from
organic sources, the GOTS certification system involves comprehensive
requirements on the entire production process, including the cultivation,
finishing and packaging of the textile products, energy and water
consumption, and chemical discharges, which are all regulated under the
voluntary certification system.

The OEKO-TEX Standard 100, on the other hand, addresses the level
of hazardous chemicals that remain in the textile products. Under the
OEKO-TEX certification system, textile products that are intended for
infants and are expected to come into extended close contact with
human skin have to fulfil more stringent requirements.

Among the 36 models assessed, 14 were labelled with GOTS certification
logo or claimed to be in compliance with the relevant certifying
requirements. Making use of the information shown on product labels,
promotion materials and supplementary information provided by the
suppliers, the relevant certifying information of 12 models could be
accessed from the GOTS official website: 6 of them were certified
textile products; 4 were made with certified fabrics, fibres or yarns;
certifications of 2 models were expired, and the certifying information
of 2 models could not be accessed.

On the other hand, there were 10 models labelled with OEKO-TEX
certification. The relevant certifying information of 9 models was available
on its official website: 7 of them were of Class 1 (articles for babies and
toddlers) accredited textile products, and the rest were of certified fabrics.

Before making a purchase decision, consumers were advised to
understand the real meaning of the environmental-friendly claims
and certification listed on the textile products by cross-checking their
certifying information in appropriate website. They were also reminded
that buying fewer clothes and textile products, extending their life-cycle
by mending the clothes and donating the unwanted clothes to charity
will also help support sustainable consumption.

Where Have All the Tested Products Gone?

The products used for testing by the Council were put to further
use with a number of items donated to environmental protection
organisations, charity groups and non-profit organisations for further
consumption and recycling. During the year, a total of 1,887 items
were sent to 10 recipient organisations, including electrical appliances,
household consumables, health products as well as food and beverages.

The recipient organisations were: ALBA Integrated Waste Solutions
(Hong Kong) Ltd., North Point Alliance Church, Evangelical Free Church of
China Tung Fook Church, Green Environmental Kitchen Residue Recycle
Ltd., Helping Hand Po Lam Jockey Club Housing for the Elderly, Hong
Chi Association, H.K.S.K.H. Kowloon City Children and Youth Integrated
Service Centre, Kowloon City Baptist Church Neighbourhood Elderly
Centre, The Salvation Army and Sham Shui Po Community Association.
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Collecting Market Infor
on Goods and Services
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Market Surveillance

The consumption environment has been transformed with digiiél‘ T

developments. In recognition of these changes, the Council embarked
on an expanded market surveillance programme® in the year under
review, which included daily monitoring of grocery prices at online food
vendors, digital services such as ticket reseller platforms and airfare
comparison websites, as well as services that impact the everyday life of
consumers, such as credit card cash rebates, home insurance, and home
care services for the elderly. The Council also raised public concerns
over the need for the airline industry to enhance the transparency
of its overbooking policy and studied price movements in a basket of
supermarket items and the textbook market.

Airfare Comparison Websites

Although airfare comparison websites claim they search hundreds or
even thousands of airline and travel agency websites and offer only the
lowest prices available, the Council found huge price differences among
the websites regarding their so-called “cheapest” air tickets. The Council
conducted 50 trials on 6 airfare comparison websites and found that
for flights for the same date and destination, the “cheapest” airfares
shortlisted by these comparison websites could vary by nearly 100%.
Even when the search results were restricted to identical flights, the price
shortlisted on different comparison websites could still vary by 45%.

Quite often when consumers were diverted from the comparison
websites to the ticket-selling websites for the “cheapest” ticket, they
would find it marked at a higher price. In 41.5% of the trials, the “lowest”
prices displayed on the most problematic comparison websites were
inconsistent with the relevant ticket-selling websites. The biggest price
variation represented an increase of nearly 30%.
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The provision of clear and accurate information
is key to effective consumer empowerment.
The Council is continually engaged in collecting,
analysing and correlating information on a vast and
ever-growing range of goods and services in both the
physical and digital marketplaces.
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In addition to price variations, consumers should pay attention to the
reliability of the information provided by comparison websites. The study
showed that in some trials, the lowest-priced tickets on 3 comparison
sites were either sold out or the shortlisted fares could not be displayed.

Furthermore, none of the comparison websites in the survey provided
clear information in regard to baggage allowance, fare or booking
class, air mileage earnings, or ticket_.change and cancellation policies.
,The‘C'o'uncil advised consumers to bear in mind that this information
" could affect airfares, they should always unders\t\and\their own needs,
compare the terms and conditions carefully before purchasg.

Airline Overbooking Policies

The Council gleaned through the websites of 15 airlines for information

relating to overbooking policies and found that only 2 of the airlines.
provided relatively clear information on boarding priorities, alternative

flight arrangements and compensation amount for passengers
involuntarily denied boarding. The other airlines offered only very
sketchy information. 6 airlines vaguely indicated that compensation
would be provided in accordance with the relevant legislation, yet
without providing details of the arrangements for alternative flights, the
criteria for compensation and the compensation amount.

There was also no uniformity as to where the overbooking policies were

posted on the airlines” websites. Some airlines posted their overbooking

policies on the “Conditions of Carriage” page, while others included the

related information in their “Customer Commitment”/“Customer Service

Plan” section, or in the form of notices or

announcements. The airlines used different

terms for denied boarding or overbooking, . I
e e . ﬂ"a

such as “denied boarding”, “oversales”,

“overbooking” or “involuntary

rerouting”, which can further confuse

passengers and make the policies

more difficult to compare.
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In addition, Council staff posing as prospective customers made 48
enquiries with 15 airling_;s through their service hotlines or airport service
counters, and 30 enquiries with 15 licensed travel agents through their
service hotlines or branches to explore what other channels could be
used to obtain information on airline overbooking policies. The findings
showed that even the frontline staff of airlines were not clear about
overbooking arrangements, since 60% of them responded that they
could offer no information on the company’s overbooking policies;
and 30% replied that they were not clear about the compensation
mechanism for overbooking, or that the company had not provided
any special guideljnes or specific standards regarding overbooking.
And about 30% of the surveyed travel agents indicated that they were
unclear about the dverbooking arrangements of the airlines.

The Council stressed that despite the absence of legislation governing
airline overbooking in Hong Kong, as responsible business operators,
airlines should provide timely, clear and detailed information to
passengers, and should rigorously review their existing overbooking
policies and handling procedures, and implement immediate
improvements.

Annual Supermarket Price Survey

In the year under review, the Council expanded its coverage of major
supermarket chains from 3 to 4 to provide consumers with more
comprehensive information about supermarket prices and trends.
Compared with 2016, the aggregate average price of 200 top-selling
items in 2017 dropped by 0.04%. But the survey revealed significant
aggregate average price chreases in 3 product categories (1.9% to
5.3%) and 15 product groups (1.9% to 11.7%), both were higher than the
increase of Composite Consumer Price Index (CPI) for the corresponding
period (1.5%). '

The basket of 200 items was broadly divided into 12 categories and 45
product groups. 7 of the 12 categdr\ies recorded an upward trend, with
an aggregate average price increased from 0.2% to 5.3% YoY, while 5
categories were down by 0.7% to 5.4% YoY. The analysis showed that
the aggregate average prices of 21 of fhg 45 product groups were up
from 0.4% to 11.7% YoY. The product group leading the price surge was
bean curd, with an average increase of 11.7%. Coming next were peanut
butter/fruit jam (6.4%), pre-packaged cake (5.9%), adult milk powder
(4.6%), carbonated drinks (3.8%) and eggs (3.\7%). In contrast, the
aggregate average prices of 23 product groups were down YoY, from 0.1%
to 7.3%, notably, instant coffee ™
(-7.3%), evaporated/condensed
milk (-4.4%), canned vegetables/
soup (-3.6%) and nuts (-3.3%).
Cheese was the only product
group that remained unchanged in
the aggregate average price.
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Credit Card Cash Rebates

To attract customers and to boost spending,
credit card companies offer a dazzling array of
rewards. In a survey of 19 card issuers providing
38 cash rebate plans, the Council found that
the calculation models for the various reward
schemes could be categorised into 3 main
types: direct rebates (18 plans), rebates through
redemptions (11 plans), and reward deductions
(10 plans). After stripping out the various other
benefits, the redemption rate for a S1 cash
rebate still differed by up to 8 times, with credit
card purchases ranging from $50 to $450.

Card issuers promoted a tempting range of rewards, with different cash
rebate redemption rates according to spending category, region of
purchase, or type of shop. Most plans awarded higher cash rebates for
purchases overseas or in a foreign currency. Some card issuers offered
extra reward points to cardholders who spent at designated shops,
and some even offered cardholders the choice of their own preferred
spending categories and reward multipliers. By choosing credit cards
with a higher rebate ratio, the transaction amount for a $1 cash rebate
could drop considerably from $250 to $27.8.

The Council adylséd consumers to pay particular attention to the
restrictions imposed in the cash rebate plans, the stated expiry period,
and the annual fee. Of the 13 plans with reward points, 6 plans set a
maxjm’u/m limit on reward points offered or accumulated. As for the
expiry period, 5 plans set the expiry period for reward points from 15
- “months to 3 years, while the other 8 plans had no expiry period. Most
plans did not allow cash rebates or rewards for cash advances, annual
fees or tax payments. Most credit cards charged an annual fee of $220-
$6,800. When consumers compute the actual cost of the cash rebate
earned, these limitations and annual fees should all be taken into account.

The Council reminded cardholders to exercise prudent financial control,
spend within their means, and never apply for a credit card recklessly
or spend more than what they can afford just to earn extra rewards or
obtain welcome gifts.

Home Care Services

As there is an increasing demand for home care services due to ageing
population in Hong Kong, the Council compared home care services
offered by 12 social enterprises or private companies. The study found
that the diverse service charges from $80 to $2,500 were set or calculated
based on the qualifications and hours of service of the service providers,
which included registered nurses, enrolled nurses, physiotherapists,
occupational therapists, health workers and personal care workers.

The findings showed that the scope of services provided by each
company was different and some services had a minimum service

time from 30 minutes to 4 hours. Most of the personal care workers

provided services for personal hygiene, such as bathing assistamé/and
diaper changing. 2 companies offered additional services, such as house
cleaning and emotional care. Most of the comparriés' required a health
worker for services like wound ca‘re,,hem'dﬁhg urine bags/stoma bags,
and stomach tube feeding.- -~
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The Council advised consumers to check in advance that the service
providers have the relevant professional qualifications to deliver the
service in need. Consumers were also reminded to check the service
areas and hours of the agencies, and the terms of service in severe
weather, and to confirm the service time when making an appointment.

Home Insurance

More and more households buy home insurance

as the concept of home protection grows sk
in Hong Kong. The Council compared
22 household insurance schemes,
and found 10 of the schemes

set 40 years as the upper limit

for the age of building of the
insured unit, and 7 set the

upper limit for the building

age from 25 to 55 years. All-

risk inclusive household

contents protection formed

the core of home insurance

schemes, but the schemes

had different definitions of
household cont/emé, uninsured
incidents Qm‘fems, and insured
amounts, which ranged from
$200,000 to $3 million. There was

‘also a variation among the schemes
" in extended or supplemental cover and

amounts; for example, the insured amount
for alternative accommodation ranged from
$15,000 to $300,000 per policy year.

Almost all the schemes applied “excess” for household contents |
protection, such as loss or damage caused by water flooding, water |
pipe bursts or rain water seepage. For an insurance policy for a unit in/

a building 25 vears old or less, with an insured amount of $1 million for
household contents, for example, the excess could range from $250 to
$3,000, reflecting a variation of 11 times. The range of excess for legal
liability protection was even more substantial, from $250 to $10,000,
indicating a difference of 39 times. '

The Council advised consumers to evaluate their asset value careﬂﬁlly
and choose only the insurance policy that suited them best. Choo§ing
a policy solely based on the premium may run the risk of paying“for
insurance protection that is of little or even no use. :

Online Price Watch

The Council collected daily prices of around 2,200 products from online
food stores, supermarkets and personal care stores, which were listed
on the Council’s Online Price Watch website. During the year, the site
was enhanced to include new sub-categories of products, like egg rolls
and dietary supplements. The average number of unique visitors to the
website per month increased from approximately 53,600 to 60,500 Yo.
Most of the visitors were from Hong Kong (67%) and the Mainland (13%\).
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/ Textbook Prices and Expenditure Surveys

The Council’s survey of textbook prices of 847 commonly used textbooks
from 23 publishers found that the price of textbooks rose by an average
of 3.6% YoY, with a breakdown of 3.5% for primary schools and 3.7% for
secondary schools, both were higher than the 2.0% rate of inflation in
the same period. The majority of the textbooks surveyed (96.2%) were
found to have increased by 0.8% to 8.5%. The prices of 32 textbooks
(3.8%) remained unchanged, but most of these were for non-core
subjects, including Tourism and Hospitality Studies, Religious Studies and
Music. None of the textbooks surveyed had a decrease in price. This
has been a continuing trend over the past 6 consecutive years.

With the help of the Education Bureau, the Council collected textbook
lists for the new academic year from 47 primary and 38 secondary
schools as to investigate students’ expenditure on textbooks. The survey
revealed that primary and secondary school students spent an average
of HKS2,729 and HKS2,736 respectively for mandatory textbooks and
learning materials. Average textbook expenditure increased by 4.4%
YoY for primary schools and 3.5% for secondary schools. Both were

_higher than the 2.0% rate of inflation in the same period. All primary
schaol levels recorded an increase in average textbook expenditure
YoY, from 4.2% (Primary 2 and 4) to 5.0% (Primary 6). Average textbook
expenditure in secondary grades varied significantly from a fall of 3.1%
(Form 6) Yo to a rise of 5.1% (Form 2).

Ticket Reseller Plé‘tfo\rms

In response to recent rampéni ticket scalping activities, the Council
looked into 3 ticket reseller blalforms and found that the risk to
consumers was highly disproportionate to the services rendered and
the exorbitant high fee charged. Apart-from an extreme difference in
the ticket prices, the reseller platforms charged a handling fee of 26.5%
to 38.8% of the ticket price from the sellers én\d a booking fee of 15% to
28.8% of the ticket price from the buyers. ’

However, it was found that none of the reseller platforms provided exact
information about the tickets beyond the date, sta\rt\ing time, venue
and designated ticket zone at the show. None of the platforms showed
information on the printed tickets about the seat row ahq location, or
the terms and conditions of the event. If the tickets were lost in the
mail or delivery was delayed, none of the 3 platforms undertook to
guarantee a refund. If the tickets were found to be invalid, 2 of the
platforms set out cumbersome refund requirements for the affected
buyers. The provision of customer service by the platforms was virjcually
non-existent. Although some platforms did list out the customer
service hotline number or email, when problems concerning the sale
and purchase of tickets occurred, neither buyers nor sellers could get.in
contact with the customer service staff. '

The headquarters of 2 platforms were located in
other countries or regions, with no local
office specified. If there is a dispute, it
will be difficult to pursue redress from
a different jurisdiction. The Council
therefore reminded consumers to refrain
from buying tickets through unofficial
channels to avoid the risk.

BUY NOW!
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Fostering Competition and
A Fair Marketplace

Overseas Education Advisory Services

Since many Hong Kong students study overseas, the Council
undertook an in-depth study titled “Are Students Protected? An In-
depth Look into Overseas Education Advisory Services”. The study
adopted various research methods, including consumer surveys,
trade surveys, interviews with key stakeholders, and mystery
shopping visits.

The study found that there were discrepancies between promises
and reality, between expectations and actual experience at different
points in the students’ quest for information on overseas education.
The Council concluded that the Government, together with the
industry, should take an active role in fostering a better and more
transparent marketplace in Hong Kong for overseas
education advisory services for the betterment of the
next generation.

The Council recommended that the code of conduct
issued by the Hong Kong International Education
Consultants’ Association be strengthened to cover
the following areas: ethical standards and good
industry practices; consumer protection; disclosure
of representation and the receipt of rewards for
making referrals; the qualifications of consultants;
professional training requirements; advice on
the safety of the proposed destination; the use
of service contracts; and a redress mechanism
for dispute resolution. As for the Government,
the Council recommended that it could play a
leading role in helping the industry improve its_ _
code of conduct and equip its members with
the right Ieyel—of‘I{n—owledge and expertise to
deliver quality services.
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: The Council acts as a staunch advocate of
a fair marketplace for consumers and traders

by advising the Government and the business

: community on fair competition and trade practices
) based on its in-depth studies of different sectors. It also
] participates actively in the Government and industry
' consultations, and submits its views from a consumer
perspective on a diverse range of issues and concerns.
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Global Financial Innovation Network 2Tk ERBIFT A

The Council welcomed the proposal of 12 financial regulators and AReFHmitRARZ 12X E SRR KRE
related organisations around the world, including the Hong Kong (BEEESREER) BEL TN 2R
Monetary Authority, to establish the Global Financial Innovation BB |

Network (GFIN).
MRUN"2HRSRAFREG,  RBAERRT

e o ot bl T ¥ EREEHBIHBRATA BASERIERR
" work and regulatory trials, and to € : BREBDERNRE
facilitate cross-border firm trials £ '“'“'! ?W HEHHEENERR
that would lead to an overall 3 I'll Bid - FE IR B T B B A= ok

| FAETABRARER
o HERERERRE
FRMALRBEHE
BHER TR REBAN
818 19— H4) > AKX

improved level of service, experience l :
and supplier integrity for consumers.
The Council also supported the
development of a best practice guide
for regulators, and the involvement
of global standard setting bodies as

art of the GFIN, and welcomed the ﬂ%@%%%ﬁéﬁ’
jpoint work of m,ultiple regulators .‘ﬁ%?ﬁﬂ]é’é?ﬁﬁ%lﬁjﬂ%ﬁ
and the publication of findings g%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ&ﬁi%\
e ’

from cross-border trials and market
studies on common areas of interest.

BRYRITERMH—EE

In addition to offering the industry a more accessible, well-framed HE - BRENFEARRBEMITHEERIN LS
platform to develop and market products, the Council concluded RE—EENEEEE ERNEEDENEN
that an effective mechanism to communicate with consumers, BB B EABBE DF MR RS
such as through the interface with consumer bodies, was also BERAIT AR ANEEERETARNES.

necessary to keep them informed of the latest financial innovation
solutions in order to provide appropriate advice to consumers.
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Draft Guidelines and Rules by the Insurance
Authority

In preparation for taking over the full regulation of insurance
intermediaries in mid-2019, the newly established insurance regulator,
the Insurance Authority (IA), published a number of draft guidelines and
rules in 2018-19 for public consultation. The Council’s response to these
consultations were summarised as follows:

Draft Guidelines on the (1) Fit and Proper Criteria
for Licensed Insurance Intermediaries under the
Insurance Ordinance; and (2) Continuing Professional
Development for Licensed Insurance Intermediaries

The Council supported the IA’s new requirements of raising the
minimum education standard of individual licensees so that they acquire
adequate language proficiency, as well as knowledge and skills in data
analysis, and that responsible officers, given their greater accountability
in an insurance agency, should possess a bachelor’s or higher degree.
The Council pointed out that responsible officers should also take note
of consumer protection-related laws and that the qualitative aspects
of their role, and the breadth and depth of managing subordinates and
running an office should also form part of the assessment criteria in
evaluating the suitability of the responsible officers.

With regard to the professional competence requirements for firms, the
Council was of the view that a proper understanding of consumer rights
and an effective resolution mechanism for settling consumer disputes
were important requirements. The Council recommended that firms
should have in place an effective resolution mechanism and provide
appropriate internal training and assessment, monitor and assure their
compliance with the requirements, and maintain proper records to
discharge their required responsibility.

The Council also recommended that the minimum Continuing
Professional Development (CPD) hours of individual licensees be raised
from 20 hours per year for the first 2 years to 30 hours per year, and that
the CPD hours required for technical representatives (agents) engaged in
restricted scope travel business should also be increased gradually from
3 hours to 9 hours per year. A review on the CPD was also suggested to
align with the international requirements and keep up with consumer
needs and market developments.

Draft Guideline on Exercising Power to Impose a
Pecuniary Penalty in Respect of Regulated Persons
under the Insurance Ordinance

The Council in general supported the draft guideline that sets out the
considerations the IA would take into account when exercising its power
to impose a pecuniary penalty in the event that a regulated person was

found guilty of misconduct or judged not fit and proper to carry out the
relevant responsibilities.
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The Council considered that consumer interests should be expressly
covered, and in cases where misconduct was serious or a detriment
to the interests of policyholders, a higher level of fine was expected.
To promote good practices in the industry and to effectively stop
misconduct of the regulated person, the Council recommended that
penalties should be set to serve an effective deterrent effect, especially
when it could have a critical effect on consumers, instead of emphasising
the financial status of the regulated person.

In determining the level of fine, the Council recommended that the 1A
should consider the size of the organisation as well as the previous local
and overseas disciplinary records and compliance history of the person
in Hong Kong and overseas markets. The Council also considered it
important for the IA to publicise its decisions to impose a pecuniary
penalty on regulated persons who contravene the conduct rules to
prevent further misconduct and violations of the Insurance Ordinance.

Draft Insurance (Maximum Number of Authorised
Insurers) Rules

The Council was concerned about whether the arrangements about
the maximum number of authorised insurers that might appoint
an insurance agent or agency would have any likely exclusory
effect whereby agents (subagents) or agencies were required to
act solely for particular principal(s), which would reduce consumer
choices and reduce competition.
IA should examine the extent of exclusive dealing between agents/
agencies and principals in the market. - © ’

The Council also pointed out that information transparency was
crucial for consumers to make informed choices. In cases where
agents represent more‘than one principal, it would be necessary
for the agents to dqcfare their representation at the beginning as
to all priﬁcipals they were involved with, and the possible conflict
of interest’ When making a recommendation to prospective or
existing pollcyholders The Council suggested adding in the draft
rules the stipulation that licensed individual insurance agents
or licensed insurance agencies that act for principals should be
required to provide adequate and clear information about their
identities before making any recommendations to potential
policyholders. The Council also considered the IA supervision
necessar\/ to improve the quality of information disclosure in the
interests‘v'of consumers.

Other ('f)onsultétions

The Council also provided its initial views on the IA’s soft
consultations concerning the draft guidelines on financial needs
analysis (FNA), a cooling-off period, benefit illustrations for long-
term insur\t\ancle/policies and medical insurance policies.
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Regarding the IA’s draft guideline on financial needs analysis, the
Council concluded that the IA’s proposed FNA form would facilitate
proper assessment of the financial circumstances of consumers
before giving any recommendations of insurance products or advice.
The Council recommended that a declaration be included in the
FNA template to remind potential policyholders to confirm whether
the information in the form was completed by a licensed insurance
intermediary on their behalf. The Council recommended that
separate assessments be conducted for insurance and investment so
that authorised insurers or licensed insurance intermediaries would
have a clear understanding of the consumers’ respective needs to
make appropriate recommendations. The Council also recommended
that a post-sale confirmation call to consumers to clearly explain any
mismatches during the cooling-off period be made compulsory and
well in advance of the expiry of the cooling-off period.

As for the cooling-off period, the Council supported the proposed
guideline for facilitating the execution of the cooling-off period.
However, it was suggested that there should be a clear guidance
from the IA about the changes or alterations in the terms and
conditions should re-contracting be required, the authorised insurer
should not vary the terms unilaterally, and a cooling-off period be
applied. The Council also recommended that a standard form be
provided to consumers acknowledging their request for cancellation
of the policy and that consumers be able to submit the form via mail
or electronic channels.

The Council suggested that the cooling-off period be 21 days or
more, immediately following the day when the policy begins or when
the policyholder or representative of the policyholder receives the
relevant life insurance policy, whichever was later, to ensure that
policyholders had sufficient time to consider and check the terms of
their insurance policy.

The Council provided its views on the IA’s draft guideline on benefit
illustrations, which set out the minimum requirements for point-of-
sales illustrations and in-force re-projection illustrations for long-
term insurance policies with cash value. To avoid consumer disputes
or misunderstandings arising from faulty or unrealistic performance
expectations, the Council was of the view that premium payments
should not be represented in any way that they would not be
required after a certain time period of the policy to maintain the
illustrated benefits, unless that was the fact.

The Council also recommended that there should be a statement
requiring an authorised insurer or insurance intermediary to confirm
and sign that the illustration had been presented, along with an
explanation. For policies that were sold through non-face-to-face
channels, it was suggested that the illustration document be available
in a downloadable format or sent to the customer for record keeping.
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The Council recommended setting up an online, in-force policy
re-projection system to help policyholders keep track of policy
performance. The Council suggested that the IA devise viable measures
to scrutinise the appointed actuary’s compliance to ensure the accuracy
of the calculations and the preparation of the illustration.

With regard to the draft guideline on medical insurance policies,
the Council suggested that the information related to changes in
the premium level and the right of the insurer, if any, to revise policy
documents at renewal, be provided to consumers to enable them to
make informed decisions. To help consumers better understand the
terms and conditions of the policy contracts before signing, the Council
recommended that a digital or printed sample policy contract of the
respective insurance product be provided to consumers.

In respect of claims handling, the Council recommended that the
guideline stress the insurers’ duty of good faith when dealing with
claims and that clear explanations about claim results be provided to
policyholders. As for enhancements imposed by insurers at renewal, the
Council suggested that insurers provide policyholders with an option to
renew policies with the same coverage.

Proposed Licensing Regime for Property
Management Companies (PMCs) and Property
Management Practitioners (PMPs)

With regard to the exceptions to the prohibition of unlicensed
activities of the Property Management Services Ordinance
(PMSQ), the Council suggested the Property Management
Services Authority (PMSA) to seek alternative ways of monitoring
and assessing the quality standard and capability of providing
professional property management services of the exempted
properties. The Council also suggested that the PMCs should be
required to reveal the complaints received anonymously for the
information of the residents and issue timely reports to the PMSA.

Regarding the licensing of PMCs and PMPs, the Council suggested
that the PMSA should strengthen the licensing criteria, such as the
requirement of minimum working capital of PMCs, the requirement
of at least 6 years of related work experience in management in at
least 2 large-scale residential properties of licensed PMPs (Tier 1),
and at least 3 years of related work experience as a licensed PMP
(Tier 2). To ensure high-quality professional services were provided
by PMPs in managing or supervising the services, the Council also
suggested that the PMSA should impose regulatory oversight and
undertake further assessment of the experience of provisional PMPs.
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The Council further recommended that the notification period to the
PMSA be shortened to 7 working days, and that electronic channels be
used, particularly in cases when there was cessation of the operation
of a licensed PMC or termination of a licensed PMP’s engagement. As
for financial information, the Council suggested that the PMSA should
prescribe some standard forms with explanations and definitions
to ensure the submissions and reporting were standardised and
comparable among different service providers.

For better consumer protection, the Council suggested that the PMSA
should regularly collect the opinions of owner organisations and owners/
residents of property management services and fees.

Proposed Pharmaceutical Sales Survey of the
Hong Kong Association of the Pharmaceutical
Industry (HKAPI)

The Council provided its views to the Competition Commission
(the Commission) concerning the application from the HKAPI to the
Commission for a decision under Section 9 of the Competition Ordinance
with regard to the HKAPI’s proposed pharmaceutical sales survey (the
proposed survey). In the application, the HKAPI sought a decision from

"~ the Commission confirming that the

opienqtion of the proposed survey

would be excluded from the First <) N D
Conduct Rdle\because of the economic G ’*f\_ y %
efficiency exclusion. ¢ - $

) R . ) : \ = .
As certain pharmaceutical product - v %
markets were highly coricgntrated with By Y A -
only a few market players, the level of -

detail provided in the propoée\d survey

" ~and its competitive sensitivity could

48

pos\s‘lbly\facilitate market collusion in
certain ways.” - - \

e Scrutinise whether the HKAPI’s application met the 3 requirements
of the economic efficiency exclusion: (i) contributes to improving
production or distribution or promof\ing technical or economic
progress while allowing consumers a fair share of the resulting
benefits; (ii) does not impose on the'undertakings concerned
restrictions that are not indispensable to the attainment of the
objectives stated in (i); and (iii) does not provide the undertakings
concerned the possibility of eliminating competition in respect of a
substantial part of the goods or services in question;

¢ Require the HKAPI to prove, with concrete and quantifiable evidence,
that its collected data had beneficial effects for consumers that
compensated for the drawbacks of industry cdordination, and that a fair
share of the resulting benefits would be passe‘d to consumers; and
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e Study overseas regulatory frameworks relevant to Hong Kong’s
situation to undgrsténd their regulatory oversight in similar surveys.

The Council also asked the Commission to be mindful of the implications
of its decision on other market sales surveys in Hong Kong.

Au’fo-fuel Price Monitoring

,’/The auto-fuel market has long been one of the markets which the

public is most concerned about. The Council, commissioned by the
Environment Bureau, has been closely monitoring this market, collating
and publishing daily retail auto-fuel prices to enhance information
transparency and help consumers make informed choices. To enhance
its reach and accessibility, the Council used multiple platforms, including
its website and 2 smartphone applications, to disseminate information.

In addition to daily information, the Council published historical market
price information to help monitor the overall trend and relationship
between the auto-fuel prices of local retailers and other oil price
indicators, including international crude oil prices and import prices.
The Council would continue its role of protecting and promoting the
interests of consumers in the auto-fuel market.

Industry Code of Practice

The role of encouraging and assisting businesses with the development
of codes of practice is one of the functions stipulated in the Council’s
Ordinance. To this end, the Council, in collaboration with the laundry
industry and the retail jewellery industry, launched the Laundry Code
and the Jewellery Code in 2015 and 2017 respectively. Relevant
Complaint Review Committee (CRC) was established by the trade
association concerned to handle consumer complaints and ensure
compliance among industry operators for each Code.

For effective implementation of the Codes and operation of the CRCs
after their launch, the Council held regular review meetings with the
trade associations to review their performance and keep track of the
latest developments of the Codes and industries. For promotion of the
Jewellery Code, the jewellery associations launched a labelling scheme in
2019 and received a supportive response from their members.
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Advancing Legal Protection

for Consumers

D B KRR

During the year under review, the Council made 4 submissions to the

Government and the Law Reform Commission on matters relating -~

to periodical payments for future pecuniary loss in personal injury
cases; reciprocal recognition and enforcement of-judgments in civil
and commercial matters between Hong Kong and the Mainland;
statutory cooling-off period for beauty and fitness services consumer
contracts and archives law.

The Law Reform Commission of Hong Kong
(“LRC”) - Consultation Paper on Periodical
Payments for Future Pecuniary Loss in
Personal Injury (“PI”) Cases

In its submission, the Council supported the LRC’s proposal that the
court be given legislative powers to make periodical payment orders
(“PPO”) in respect of damages for future pecuniary loss in Pl cases
to alleviate the problem of under or over compensation associated
with lump sum awards for future pecuniary loss currently faced by
injured plaintiffs ("Plaintiffs"). In order to safeguard the Plaintiff’s
interest, the Council was of the view that the court's power to award
PPO should be irrespective of the consent of the parties to the
proceedings and should be vested widely.

The Council recognised the importance of having an authority to fix
and conduct periodical revision of the discount rate and the selection
of a multiplier and agreed that the Chief Justice should be the one to
do so in consultation with others. In addition, the Council backed the
need for review of the discount rate at regular intervals.
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Laws and codes of practice are the mainstay of consumer
protection. To make sure consumer interests are continually
advanced at legislative and regulatory levels, the Council regularly
conducts studies on consumer issues and concerns from a legal
perspective. The results of these studies, along with the Council’s

views, are submitted to the Government, stakeholders and the public.

This serves to encourage public discussion and keep consumer policy
consideration at the front of mind of relevant parties, in order to

constantly enhance consumer protection.
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The Council also considered that the ability to review or vary the original
PPO by either party to the proceedings was crucial, but advocated that
such applications be allowed only in restricted circumstances. Although
not discussed in the LRC paper, the Council proposed that should the
review be in the Plaintiff’s favour, the costs of such application be borne
by the defendant unless it was shown that the application was based on
fraudulent evidence; the Plaintiff contributed to the deterioration of his/
her circumstances; or the application was plainly vexatious or frivolous.

The Department of Justice (“DodJ”)
Consultation Paper on Proposed Arrangement
between Hong Kong and the Mainland on
Reciprocal Recognition and Enforcement of
Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters

The Council supported the proposal of the DoJ for Hong Kong to
enter into a more comprehensive arrangement with the Mainland on
the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and
commercial matters (“Proposed Arrangement”) and agreed that the
existing Choice of Court Arrangement, which had a more restrictive
application, should be superseded upon the Proposed Arrangement
coming into effect.

As regards the level of courts to be covered, the Council invited the
Dol to consider the inclusion of claims awarded by the Small Claims
Tribunal. As a matter of principle, consumers should not be precluded
from being able to enforce an award from the Small Claims Tribunal
against a trader’s assets located in the Mainland, if they so wished,
even though this might be infrequent in practice. Currently only
awards in the District Court and above are included in the Proposed
Arrangement. In the same vein and in the spirit of reciprocity, the
Council submitted that it would be appropriate to extend coverage to
judgments made by any Mainland courts at any level.
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Consultation Paper on Statutory Cooling-
Off Period for Beauty and Fitness Services
Consumer Contracts

The Council welcomed the legislative priority and timeline accorded
by the Government in enacting the cooling-off legislation in the
present Legislative Council term. In its submission in response to
the Consultation Paper, the Council supported the Government’s
proposal that for the time being, a progressive approach should be
taken to focus on trades most commonly associated with aggressive
commercial practices and involving large amounts of prepayments,
i.e. beauty and fitness services contracts.

Although the time-share industry did not fall within the proposed
legislation at this stage, the Council suggested that proposed
legislation be drafted so that there was a principal legislative
framework, with the types of contracts/trade; the amount of
prepayment; other operational arrangements, etc. to be included in a
subsidiary legislation so that the Government could react in a timely
manner should aggressive commercial trade practices appear or
emerge in a particular trade or contract.

The Council also supported the Government’s proposed exemptions
but noted the following needs: to clarify the definition of ‘massage
services’ and ‘exercise machines’ and to keep under review the
charitable organisation exemption to prevent this being used
by collaborating profit-making entities; so that abuse of these
exemptions could be prevented.
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Furthermore, the Council supported all the other operational
proposals and in addition, suggested the following for further
consideration: i) specific provisions should be inserted to cater for
instances when the last day of the cooling-off/refund period falls on a
public holiday or black rainstorm/gale warning so that both consumer
and traders’ rights would be preserved; ii) traders should be required
to explain to consumers the administrative charge difference
between payment by instalment payment plans or one-off payment
to enable an informed decision to be made on the choice of payment
method; iii) criminal sanctions including imprisonment be imposed
for failure to comply with an enforcement notice; iv) the Court be
empowered to award compensation to consumers; v) criminal liability
be imposed on delinquent directors, shadow directors, etc. in line
with similar provisions in the Trade Description Ordinance; and vi)
the threshold level of beauty and fitness services contracts and the
levels of fines or other penalties be put in the subsidiary legislation
so that expeditious amendments can be achieved when necessary.

Submission to the LRC of Hong Kong on
Archives Law

In its submission, the Council supported the [_RC'»S‘DF'O'D'OSM to
introduce an archives law to strengthen and monitor the current
public records and archive‘s‘mar‘ra‘g‘er‘nent framework.

In addition, the Council was of the view that the current placement
-~ of Government Records Service (Hong Kong) (GRS) should continue
to be within the Government, and should be headed by a Chief
Archivist. An advisory body should be established to give advice
and guidance on the management of archival matters while GRS
should be responsible for the operational aspects. The Council also
proposed that GRS should be empowered to ensure compliance by
the Government bureaux and departments (B/Ds) and impose proper
sanctions upon the B/Ds in case of breach; and investigate suspected
breaches and issue enforcement notices requiring remedy of the
breach, with non-compliance constituting an offence for which the
B/Ds would be subject to fines or more stringent penalties.

As this new law could create administrative burden on smaller
bodies/organisations, the Council suggested that these smaller
entities should be given the necessary and/or additional resources
and support to enable them to comply with the new law, with
pragmatic guiding codes to be drawn up by the new advisory
body to give proper guidance and assistance especially during the
implementation stage.

Notwithstanding the concerns of the conflict between archives law
and privacy protection, the Council agreed that data protection
principles should be strictly adhered to save for the exceptions
stated in the current Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance ("PDPQ")
and reminded the Government that when drafting any future
amendments to PDPO, there is a need to maintain, reflect and
incorporate the same balance into the new legislation.
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CHOICE Magazine

CHOICE Magazine is highly recognised as an independent, impartial and
authoritative consumer guide, providing trusted infbrmation since it was
first published in 1976. The monthly publicatjon covers test reports,
surveys, and in-depth studies on a diverse range of consumer goods and
services. To uphold its authority and creditability, CHOICE Magazine does
not accept any advertisements or commercigf contributions in any form.

The June 2018 issue was an important yﬁilestone as it was the 500"
edition of CHOICE. Li Wai-zee, Olympic bronze medal-winning cyclist and
well-known for her remarkable resilience, featured as the magazine’s
cover celebrity to symbolise the deterrination of CHOICE to continue
with its long-standing mission. '

To inculcate to the next generation the CHOICE spirit of upholding
high standard, professionalism and determination, 3 primary students
were invited to the CHOICE Issue 500 press conference to unveil the
commemorative activity of collecting wishes and blessings to CHOICE
from society, which would serve as the driving forces and aspirations for
the magazine in the years to come.
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The Council has long played an important role in
providing consumers with clear, comprehensive and
timely information on the purchase and use of different
goods and services, as well as their rights and responsibilities.
In the era of digital consumption, the Council’s strategy
is to combine the best of both traditional and new media
in an all-encompassing drive to disseminate information
and present them in consumer-friendly formats.
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The online platform of the CHOICE subscription site Was revamped
and launched in March 2019 to provide a much simpler'and clearer

navigation, a user-friendly mobile responsive interface and faster =

content-loading. This new site also incorporated enhanced customer
services, such as subscription renewal reminder and subscriber’s
profile review.

With consumer relevant contents and effective communications, \t\he
overall sales of the printed version of CHOICE Magazine recorded
245,434 copies in 2018-19, making it one of the best-selling monthlies

in the city. Sales were split rather evenly between subscriptions and',
retail sales via outlets, such as newsstands and convenience stores. |
The CHOICE Magazine online version recorded 54,800 downloads (3%

increase from 2017 - 18) during the year under review.

The July 2018 issue (#501), featuring a cover story on honey found
to contain pesticides and antibiotic residues, was the best seller
of the year. Ranked second was the November 2018 issue (#505),
featuring a test report on facial cleaning products found to contain
allergy-causing preservatives MIT (methylisothiazolinone) and CMIT
(methylchloroisothiazolinone). These 2 top selling issues led to a reprint of
5,000 and 3,000 copies, respectively, to meet the overwhelming response
from the public. The third best seller was the May 2018 issue (#499), with
a test report on air-conditioner energy efficiency and cooling capacity.
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At the Hong Kong Book Fair in July 2018, the exhibition booth of CHOICE
Magazine was once again well received by the attendees, drawing a total
of 2,312 new and renewed subscribers.

Informing and Interacting with Consumers
through Multimedia Platforms

During the year under review, total traffic on the Council’s website hit a
new peak of 4 96 million page views, up 1 2% Yoy, with CHOICE articles

annual number of unique visitors was-also up by 12% YoY to 177 179 ST

representing a new spike.in traffic in the past 3 years. 21 videos and

31 infographs were-produced to meet the Council’s pledge to make -

information more accessible and user-friendly.

The number of fans for the CHOICE Facebook fanpage continued to gr/ow

_since its launch in 2017, reaching 17,187, a YoY increase of 71%. The'page

56

provided diversified content, ranging from the highlights of each issue
of CHOICE Magazine to the latest test reports and survey results, and
useful tips on a wide range of consumer goods and services. Iry’the year,
a total of 174 Facebook posts were produced, of which video’posts and
game posts were found to be most engaging. '

The Council set up a channel on YouTube in June 2018 to celebrate
the publication of the CHOICE Issue 500. Created as a video hub of
the Council, the channel comprised a list of videos, including CHOICE
Magazine highlights, test reports findings, historical events and activities,
and educational videos on consumer protection. The performance of
the channel was encouraging as it recorded 639,657 total views and a
total watch time of over 1.2 million minutes since launch. |

Empowering Consumers through the Mass Media

Thanks to the support of the mass media, the Council {s often in the
public eye. For many years, the Council has organised extensive media
programmes and campaigns, notably a monthly press conference and
numerous interviews to keep consumers informed about,’ and alert to,
what is happening in the marketplace.

In the year under review, some 125 press releases and statements were
issued, covering major topics published in CHOICE, and the. Council’s
responses and positions concerning a host of pressing consumer
concerns, such as the closure of gobee.bike, successive occurrénces of
data leakage by large corporations, and the shortage of HPV vaccine.
The Council received nearly 100 media enquiries on these 3 major
consumer incidents alone, which generated almost 100 coverages.
Through proactive media engagement, the Council was able to publi\sh
timely cautionary advice to consumers whenever an issue arised.

The Council partnered with TVB in a series of 5-minute segments, titled
2h3% 7 from May to August 2018 to provide practical information to help
consumers make informed choices. A wide
range of popular consumer products such
as home appliances, trendy gadgets and
online food ordering services as well as
complaint cases about overseas property
disputes were covered. The programme
was later trimmed to 3-minute segment
and showed on both the Financial and
News Channels of TVB.
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Top Ten Consumer News (Year of the Dog)

Entering its 15" year, the Top Ten Consumers News continued its
partnership with Hong Kong Economic Times, Cable TV, Radio Television
Hong Kong, Sky Post and TOPick to give the public an opportunity to
vote for the consumer news that they concerned most’. Among the top
3 most voted consumer news, coverage on tickets scalping drew the
most votes which triggered vigorous discussion about the regulation
of ticket resales. The second and third most voted news were mobile
payments and consumer privacy. Consumer participation remained
high in this voting campaign which a total of 4,700 votes were received.

Consumer Rights Reporting Awards

Organised by the Council in conjunction with the Hong Kong Journalists
Association and the Hong Kong Press Photographers Association, the
Consumer Rights Reporting Awards were established to recognise
journalistic excellence in reporting consumer rights and related issues.
This year, the 18" year of the awards, 259 entries were received, hitting
a new record for the past decade. Several winning entries covered
issues of major public concern, including the property market and
" privacy protection'®. Topical issues of sustainable consumption, such as
micro-contaminants from personal/health care products and apparels
adversely affecting marine ecology were also amongst the winning
' reports. The winner of the Campus category highlighted food safety and

' environmental hygiene of unlicensed food stalls at a popular mall.
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9 Visit www.consumer.org.hk/ws_chi/news/activites/20190129.html for the poll results of the Top Ten Consumer News (Year of the Dog).
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10 Visit www.consumer.org.hk/ws_chi/news/activites/20180731.html for the lists of adjudicators and winning entries of the 18™ Consumer Rights

 Reporting Awards.
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Empowering Consumers

through Education
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Empowering Vulnerable Groups to Enhance
Self-Protection

Recognising that some population groups such as the physically or
mentally challenged ones may be particularly vulnerable to unfair trade
practices, the Council reached out to these groups through community
talks with an aim to strengthen their ability for self-protection.

Building an Age-friendly Consumption Environment

In view of the ageing population in Hong Kong, the Council has
long been concerned about the well-being of older consumers and
published an in-depth study titled "Risk or Opportunity — A Study on
Building an Age-friendly Consumption Environment" in October 2018"".

The study revealed that the majority of ageing consumers in Hong
Kong remained socially active, but found that choices of products
suitable for them in the market were not sufficient. Over one-third
of them had encountered unpleasant experiences when shopping in
the year preceding the survey, with 28.9% potentially related to unfair
trade practices. It was also found that vulnerabilities, being commonly
found in old age, were strong factors increasing the ageing consumers’
likelihood of experiencing unfair trade practices. Even more worrying
was that ageing consumers were not keen on seeking redress or filing
complaints when having encountered the unpleasant experiences.

The Council believes that society as a whole should be engaged in
active dialogues and develop an age-friendly consumption environment
for the elderly. The report called for a pivotal role to be played by
the Government, and concerted efforts from various stakeholders,
including businesses, NGOs, academia, community groups and the

media, to empower ageing consumers for their fair and active
participation in the market.

11 See https://www.consumer.org.hk/ws_en/competition_issues/reports/
ageing_consumers.html for more details of the report.
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Educated consumers are empowered consumers —
providing them with the right knowledge and information
enables them to make wise choices and safeguard their
rights. The Council provides a comprehensive range of education

programmes with particular focus on the younger generation and

Hong Kong’s growing elderly population. These programmes are
steadily broadened in scope, spanning all strata of the community :
from primary school pupils to retirees, and helping recipients develop ‘
the awareness, understanding, attitudes and skills they need to make
informed and rational choices in today’s fast-changing consumer world.
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The report received positive responses from various parties with some
agreed to adopt the Council's recommendations in their planned initiatives
or long-term strategies. For example, the Office of the Government Chief
Information Officer had been working with the Council to incorporate
consumer issues and protection in their newly developed web-based

learning portal which is expected to be launched in the latter half of 2019. . - ’

*-.Consumer Education for the Elderly

Empowerment of ageing consumers through edutann has become
a rising priority. In collaboration with different social and community
organisations, 90 educational seminars specially designed for the elderly
were held during the year, drawing over 4,016 participants.

With an aim to engage and
interact with a wider group of §
elderly-audience, the-Council = gl
~ organised the Elderly Consumer
District Forum in November
2018 in collaboration with the
Hong Kong Sheng Kung Hui
Wong Tai Sin District Elderly
Community Centre. The forum,
encompassing educational
talks and discussion sessions for attendees from the district residents to
share their concerns and real-life experiences, was a pilot programme
with 180 elderly consumer attendees.

Cultivating Positive Consumer Attitude at
Young Age

Consumer education should begin in early childhood to cultivate
positive consumption attitudes and develop independent thinking
that will form the basis for judicious purchases later in life and raise
awareness in sustainable consumption.
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Experiential Learning Programme for Primary School
Students - ECF Earth 2038’s Learning Journey of
Sustainable Consumption

With a 2—yea'/r funding support from the Environment and Conservation
Fund (ECF), the Council officially launched an experiential learning
programmie “ECF Earth 2038’s Learning Journey of Sustainable
Consumption” in the 2018-19 academic year based on the experience of
the pilot programmes. Facilitated by a learning kit designed in the form
of a passport and a boarding pass, the students went through various
experiential learning activities that aimed at heightening awareness of their
roles and responsibilities as consumers in making sustainable choices. The
learning programme successfully drew the enrolment of 31 primary schools.

Before the official rollout of the programme, a pilot scheme was
conducted in 2017-18 which attracted a total of 1,162 students from
10 schools. Feedback from participating teachers was largely positive
with all of them rated the programme useful for inspiring their students
to understand the concepts and being able to practise sustainable
consumption in their daily life.

Proactive Education Platform for Secondary School
Students - Consumer Culture Study Award

For 2 decé\des, the Council has organised its flagship programme,
the Consumer Culture Study Award (CCSA), in collaboration with
the Education Bureau (EDB). Throughout the years, over 76,000
students from 358 secondary schools have participated in various
study programmes thoughtfully designed to develop their positive
consumption values and attitudes.

The 19" CCSA was successfully concluded with the Award Presentation
Ceremony attended by over 400 students and teachers in July 2018.

Entering its 20" anni\versary, a “Special Theme Award” was introduced
to encourage participants to review changes in consumer culture in
the past 2 decades, and to demonstrate in creative ways the consumer
culture of the young genéfation. An online platform (edu.consumer.
org.hk) was launched in November 2018 to showcase major award-
winning projects in the past iQ years and participating students were
encouraged to extract insights from these winning projects.

The 20" CCSA attracted 776 teams from 78
secondary schools™. A total of 124 seminars,
consultation sessions and workshops were
organised during the year to support participénts
in forming and developing their project ideas" .
and strengthening necessary critical-thinking
skills. These initiatives also engaged over 4,200
teachers and students.

Supporting the Council’s advocacy on sustainable
consumption, educational programmes were rolled

out among the young generation which also echoed the
EDB’s promotion of STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering
and Mathematics) education. Students were encouraged to
put their STEM knowledge and skills into practice to explore
and create initiatives related to fostering a sustainable
consumption environment. 37 teams from 14 schools enrolled
in the “Innovative Design for Sustainable Consumption”
category and submitted their proposals in January 2019.

NEERRASEHE -RRES
20381IXK ASTEI X TR BHEIRIZ

AERERELEARBESMERN RELE
SHEIFTERINICER 2018192 FF AR TR
REL2038MIRAF B AIRFEEEIKE 19
ERAETEE U BABZINSERNERS
ZEE WAL TER K TERE RS
BHEM MBREFEREEEEAFERENS
BNEENES - HEXB3IH/NE2HE-

SHEIEUR IR AST201 - 182 F B Y M58
&l HET11622 KRB 10/ NBNRIESM - 2
SRS PILHE YREE BB
REHAFEHERSN TR BENABEEH-

PREBFREFE-RENILETER
RSE

MARRABRAMOEEAE D B
TRELE  ESTBIM T 208 - SER RE358
RIS LRIBT6,000 4 MRS BB S NN
SEEE R ERANEEERMRE -

BI9E "HRER  ETmER LN2018FTRE
MRS BIBA00MIR AR -

BEVMBA0EAE SFE "REE FRTEEKR
1% | BBR 2O B 20ERAEE L
FNREESRERTRERSRE LARER
FE—RIHE UL - AR WA EN20185FE 118
HEH T3R8 | 8 ES (edu.consumer.org.hk) -
BRERENEBEEER ERNMESE -

S520/F &SR, WSl Y RE T8EREL T TERK A
27 AGFERILBRM Y 124158 %  EATAL
RIS B2 MASRBERFENESRE
BRALFINE BEHIRED  HHEIB4, 200 AR -

REAAE—EHEZNAFERE L
RBEERERSTEMBIZ RFH TR
REBB)HE  "HEE BZBRS2ER
STEMEM A BA TS RRAAA
EFHNE BB —EUFEREER
5o REVARSZRHITEHRE
BE2M AFEEERER
= fER - AH2019F 1848
REZE-



Responsible Consumption Programme for Secondary
School Students - Hong Kong Secondary School
Marketing Contest 2018

In collaboration with the Department of Marketing of the Hong Kong
Baptist University, the Business — School Partnership Programme of the
Education Bureau and the HSBC Social Enterprise Business Centre of the
Hong Kong Council of Social Services, the Hong Kong Secondary School
Marketing Contest 2018 was successfully conducted in June.

The contest was part of the Jockey Club Responsible Consumption
Programme, with an aim to promote responsible consumption culture
among young people. The theme of the year was “Ugly Food” and the
contest attracted 150 secondary school students to explore different
ways to campaign for reduction in food wastage.

Consumer Education for Post-Secondary School Students

In addition to engaging primary and secondary school students in
experiential learning programmes, the Council extended its consumer
education pathway to post-secondary students who are active
consumers and potential employees to serve consumers in the market.
During the year, the Council delivered 7 talks to over 270 students at the
Hong Kong Baptist University, the Hong Kong Shue Yan University, and
the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education. The topics covered
included the Trade Descriptions Ordinance, sustainable consumption,
age-friendly consumption, and consumer rights and responsibilities.

As in previous years, the Council continued to offer summer internships to

14 students from the Chinese University of Hong Kong, the City University of -~
Hong Kong, the Education University of Hong Kong, the Hong Kong Baptist -

University, the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and the Hong Kong Shue
Yan University. The
internships provided : = ‘

students with necessary
exposure and on-the-
job training in the work
of consumer protection.
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12 Visit www.consumer.org.hk/ccsa for the list of winners of the 20" Consumer Culture Study Award.
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Forging Closer Collaboration
for Consumer Protection

Bl B 118 S 1F
RIEHEZ @

Local Collaboration

The Council maintains close liaison with the Commerce and Economic
Development Bureau, which oversees policy on consumer protection.
The Council also works with other Government agencies and statutory
bodies to provide advice on matters of consumer interest, such as fair
competition and trade practices, financial and insurance services, public
health and food safety, telecommunications, and residential property
issues. Members and staff of the Council sit on nearly 50 public
advisory committees, offering views from consumers and perspectives.

Mainland and Cross-strait Collaboration

Greater integration with the Mainland implies more frequent cross-
border business dealings and consumer activities. During the year
under review, the Council signed 20 Memorandum of Understanding
(MoU) with its counterparts in the Mainland to exchange information
on consumer issues and strengthen mutual support for consumer
dispute resolution, demonstrating the Council’s heavy involvement in
Mainland collaboration.
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Against the backdrop of globalisation and rapidly
advancing technology, the world is increasingly
interconnected. Consumer organisations around the
globe have been forging collaboration to enhance cross-
border consumer protection. The Council is in frequent contact
with consumer protection agencies, trade and professional
bodies, regulators and government agencies, both at home and
overseas, to build lasting partnerships. Leveraging their expertise
and experience, the Council stands to benefit richly in various
spheres of their work.
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The 3" Cross-strait Consumer Protection Symposium FE3E BERmFEBRERRE

On 28-29 May 2018, the Council’s Chairman and the Chief AeTIE EEERSERBESN201845A

Executive, together with other senior staff, attended the 3™ Cross- 28-290 3544k %mgﬁ;ﬁg%y;&g@z

strait Consumer Protection Symposium, hosted by the Consumers W IE RIS RN RN, c R 26
Foundation in Taipei. At the symposium, participants discussed BERE FRR S EAEYNE ANEEE
AN B Al —_— /N /HEnR ra)

key issues, including FinTech development, drug safety, mobile AESHNERE BLE2 nELN RS
<7 AR NE | NI N s

payments and sustainable consumption. The exchange was fruitful
and constructive in sharing best practices and valuable experience.
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Regional and International Collaboration

The Council is an Executive and Council Member of the Consumers
International (Cl), a global federation of over 200 organisations
from almost 100 countries and regions that champions the
rights of consumers. Sharing a kindred vision, Cl’s'mission.is to

work closely with its con§tituérit member organisations and to -

strengthen networks to protect, inform, give voice to, and secure
rights for, consumers at the regional and international levels.

Since 2Q15; the Council has been honoured to have its Chief
Executive appointed as the Vice President of Cl’s Board of
Trustees to map out Cl’s strategic priorities, review its budget and
fjméncial plans, and identify new partnerships to strengthen global

,consumer protection.

Consumers International Council Meeting and Board
of Trustees Meetings

The Council’s Chief Executive attended Cl’s Board of Trustees
and Council Meetings in England and the Netherlands, held in
July and October 2018, respectively. The meetings deliberated
key consumer protection issues around the world, reviewed
implementation progress on the new digital strategy and approved
the business plan and budget for CI.

On 15 March, in support of the World Consumer Rights Day, with
the theme “Trusted Smart Products”, the Council published an
editorial in CHOICE Magazine calling on consumers to strengthen
the security of internet connected products at home and to be
mindful of how service providers might collect and store users’
personal data. There was also a report in the magazine about data
security of smart home products to highlight the risk of personal
data leakage.
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The 3" Intergovernmental Group of Experts on
Consumer Protection Law and Policy of the United
Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD)

The Council’s Chief Executive was invited to attend the 3™ session
of the Intergovernmental Group of Experts Meetings on Consumer
Protection Law and Policy, organised by UNCTAD in Geneva
on 9-10 July. Topical discussion and idea-exchange sessions
covered dispute resolution and redress, consumer product safety,
consumer protection in financial services, and technical assistance
on consumer protection law and policy.

Collaboration with the National Consumer Affairs
Centre of Japan on Dispute Resolution

After over a year of liaison and preparation, the Council signed a
MoU with the National Consumer Affairs Centre of Japan to tighten
mutual support on consumer dispute resolution. This is the second
MoU the Council has signed with international counterparts, following
an agreement signed with the Korea Consumer Agency in 2017. The
collaboration is practical and necessary, as Japan is a popular destination
for both leisure and business travellers from Hong Kong.
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Commendations and
Compliments

58 5T B R

L e
The Ombudsman’s Awards 2018 e,

2018

The Council was honoured to receive the Ombudsman’s _ -
Awards, for the 6™ straight year in 2018. Ms Carol _BRBARNS
NG Kwan-ling, Complaints & Advice Officer, was J—
presented with the Award this year in recognition of
her exceptional performance in customer service and
handling consumer cojmplaints.

Gold Award for a Barrier-Free Website

In the year under review, the Council’s website received the Gold Award
under the "Web Accessibility Recognition Scheme 18/19" organised
by the Hong Kong Internet Registration Corporation Limited and co-
organised by the Office of the Government Chief Information Officer,
with the Equal Opportunities Commission serving as an independent
advisor. This had been tﬁg 5" vear since 2013 that the Council was
awarded the accolade, acknowledging the Council’s continuing efforts
to foster an inclusive society by providing consumers with accessibility
to information in a fair, barrier—frge online environment.

2018HHRESFTE

FR AEBREBREESHHFEESR
TR -BRFNBATEREZELLER
FTRE UXRGEREBEEFRBLHEE
RIFTMEUKRR -AQBECFEMAL

REERRNILEE

AEE HEZORERERTEEREEMEE
BRARER BFEMBZRERAEHHRLK
FTERESERESEIEREEN EERRBESR
FFETEI18/19, &8 - SREAEBH2013F LK
SEORBRIMKRE E—SBETASHERRME
ATEREQAT EERFLRETEREES
B HrEa-

nu h!"g IRk MY == 5o ne mE'..
Web Accessibility Recognition Sch | Presentation Ceremony

= TE? S . 4
; ki
web-accessibility.hk ERBHEERNHE 1819
TR
HREERDY
consumer.org.hk
smat.... M

HMERO
®E :

€ @. .



----- Council and its staff. These commendations

Words of Thanks

The Council is grateful for the positive feedback from consumers
who put their trust in our professional staff to serve them with care.

Following are some examples:

AAATEEE
2 F KA E “# 4%

e S

RiE— A7 eEsaL AEE

IARAE | AR

The letters, cards and emails
that come in a steady stream from
grateful complainants and members
of the public are valued very highly by the

and compliments reflect and reinforce the level of

service the Council provides, and also serve to boost

its staff’s morale and pride in their mission to protect
and empower consumers.

DRBRERANEFEERE X LRHE  DEFNEE-
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BATRER TR ERES-

B

FRAADHEEERBECTHARGRE WXk
EUASTENIRER PIFNT:

bear Sir/Madam,

tam writing to EXpress my appreciation
for the services provided by Your

staff member Ms Lam Yin-Mei. she
was thoughtful and patient while
Listening to me despite my diffiau!,tg
expressing myself in native Cantonese.
She handled each case ang explained
ev’ergthiwg to me with her beautiful
\/ot.’oe and passion. That made me feel
relieved and supported.

r. Chow & Teaity

To M
to 507 @ big "thank

. t
‘ JUét wan . .
you' for your help in gettin%
my money back.
Your job.

You are very good at

n
[ wish you every success

your career
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‘lthawk Yow again for the help and
Stncere service.
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Consumer Council
Former Chairpersons and Vice Chairpersons

HEEREE — EREFEREIER

Year {5 Former Chairpersons FEf&E ¥ &

1974.04 - 1975.03 Sir KAN Yuet-keung, GBE, CBE, JP f&1%52 &+ GBE® CBE > A i+

1975.04 — 1980.03 Dr LO Kwee-seong, CBE, OBE, JP Z&E#F{E 1 CBE» OBE " AFHL

1980.04 — 1984.10 Dr Gallant HO Yiu-tai, JP {881 KL

1984.10 — 1988.10 Mrs Selina CHOW LIANG Shuk-yee, GBS, JP AZiNIEL L SXAEE  KFML
1988.10 - 1991.10 Mr Martin LEE Chu-ming, SC, JP =188 E R A A FfL

1991.10 — 1997.10 Prof. Edward CHEN Kwan-yiu, GBS, JP [R¥HB#I% S EKFES  KFML
1997.10 — 1999.07 Ms Anna WU Hung-yuk, GBS, JP #RfI E&+ & KF 2 & AFh+

1999.09 - 2005.09 Prof. Andrew CHAN Chi-fai, SBS, JP FREEHIR ' SREFIEE AT

2005.09 - 2007.06 Prof. K C CHAN, GBS, JP BRZ@#IR S EXFESE ATt

2007.07 - 2012.06 Prof. Anthony CHEUNG Bing-leung, GBS, JP [RIAR#IZ SEXFAERE AP+
2013.01 -2018.12 Prof. WONG Yuk-shan, SBS, BBS, JP EE|LI#E  IREFIEE  HEAZES AT
Year &9 Former Vice Chairpersons FEfE & F &

1987.04 — 1989.03 Mr TANG Kwai-nang, BBS, JP &BiEREEAL  ERFIZE XA+

1989.04 - 1991.10 Prof. Edward CHEN Kwan-yiu, GBS, JP [RIFIEHIR  SXFAEE  AFEMT
1991.10 — 1993.10 Mr Justein WONG Chun, BBS, JP Fi25c4 SREFI 2T KFEMT

1993.10 — 1997.10 Ms Anna WU Hung-yuk, GBS, JP I E &+ @KFE2E  KFEMLT

1997.10 — 2001.10 Dr John HO Dit-sang fAl#k4 181

2001.10 - 2007.10 Mr Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, BBS, JP SRHEERERT - SAEFIEE APt

2007.10 — 2013.10 Mr Ambrose HO, SBS, SC, JP fAlii@t &R AN  IREA Z & » AL

2013.11-2017.10 Mr Philip LEUNG Kwong-hon, MH ZJEE 54 48885
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Membership of the Consumer Council

HEEEZETERS
Chairman E£JE

Prof. WONG Yuk-shan, SBS, BBS, JP
BERILHER BEFES MEFESF AFEH+
(up to & 2018.12.31)

Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SC #E Bl & R A /RED
(since 2019.01.01 #8)

Vice Chairman 8IXEE
Mr Samuel CHAN Ka-yan, JP BRERER AR AREM » AR Hh L
Members &

Ms Linda CHAN Ching-fan, SC [RES 5 & R AN RED

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, MH [R$R285c 4 » 25823z
Ms Grace CHAN Man-yee 3 H 21 (up to 2 2018.12.31)
Ms Jo Jo CHAN Shuk-fong BRIZS 22+ (up to & 2018.12.31)
Dr Wilton FOK Wai-tung & HE+

Ms Amy FUNG Dun-mi, MH JEfHE4+ &85

The Hon Steven HO Chun-yin, BBS

AREZRE MEFES

Mr Edward HO Man-tat {R] & 554 (since 2019.01.01 #E)
Mr Marvin HSU Tsun-fai {R 2 RE5E4E

Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH

BR1E AR L EE) T

Mr Victor LAM Hoi-cheung, JP Mgl 54 A4+
(since 2019.01.01 #8)

Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, MH M2 EEE4 » 45 EE=
(since 2019.01.01 &)

Mr Ambrose LAM San-keung, JP PR30 7250 » A #h+
Mr Kevin LAM Sze-cay MRSt 54

Ms Vanessa LAU Chi-wan 8|F=%+

Ms Kitty LEE Wing-lan Z5pkE 4+

Dr Raymond LEUNG Siu-hong 24 EEiE+

(up to £ 2018.12.31)

Mr Keith LIE Kin-fu 222 R /54 (up to & 2018.12.31)

Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun T #3554 (since 2019.01.01 #E)

Dr LUl Wing-cheong 7K 284 (since 2019.01.01 &E)

Dr Karen SHUM Hau-yan JLZREE 4 (up to & 2018.12.31)
Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai B8 S ESE4

Prof. Nora TAM Fung-yee, BBS, JP

BREHR WEFE2E XKML

Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze ;& BERIZL T (since 2019.01.01 #E)
Prof. WONG Kam-fai, MH =R IEZ% > L2 )T

(up to & 2018.12.31)

Mr Kent WONG Siu-kee EFAE 4

Co-opted Members I§:EE S

Ms Elisa CHAN Chi-ying BRZ Bz +

Dr Jason CHAN Kai-yue, JP [R##F185+ » AP 4+

Mr CHANG Kwong-tak sREER &

Mr Thomas CHENG Kin-hon, MH &f5Eag 24 2@z
(up to & 2018.12.31)

Mr John CHIU Chi-yeung, JP &
(up to & 2018.12.31)

Mr Raymond CHOY Wai-shek, MH, JP

HERLLE LEFE Xt

Mr Johnny FEE Chung-ming, JP & HBAEAT A i+

Mr Francis FONG Po-kiu J5fRf&%5c4 (up to = 2018.12.31)
Mr Ambrose HO, SBS, SC, JP

AR ERARERM BEFEE KT

Prof. Michael HUI King-man, MH SF8i X5 - 52 8=
Mr Richard KHAW Wei-kiang, SC #F {858 & 7R AR 2HD

Mr Kelvin KWOK Hiu-fai SREERES LA

Mr Alex LAl Ting-hong Z2Z B2 72RM

Mr Daniel C. LAM, SBS, JP

a4 IREFEE X+

Ms Queenie Fiona LAU B BEh R 2AD

Dr LAW Cheung-kwok ZE#£E {8+

Mr LEUNG Chun-kit 2R

Dr LO Pui-yin Z&)MsA RAERD

Prof. Angela NG Lai-ping 2 EE5% 315

Mr Gabriel PANG Tsz-kit SZF 54

Prof. PUN Kong-pang & T BE £

Mr SHIH Wing-ching, JP jEK & 2o - R fH1

Ms Rachael SIU Suk-yu 73 A fEAT (since 2019.01.30 i)
Mr Tony TANG Kwok-wai ZE{E5c4E

Ms Sara TONG See-pui B A AFEET (since 2019.01.30 &)
Mrs Susanna TSOI LAl Yuet-sum, MH

RO EERE

Dr Michael TSUI Fuk-sun, MH fR{22 B84 - LA B =

Mr WONG Kam-leung EiEERE
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Independent Auditor's Report B HETHRSSE

TO THE MEMBERS OF CONSUMER COUNCIL
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Consumer Council (the
"Council") set out on pages 78 to 107, which comprise the statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the income and expenditure
statement, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of the Council's affair as at 31 March 2019, and of its deficit and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Council in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants ("the Code"), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The Council's members are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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Independent Auditor's Report B %HEIHRSS

TO THE MEMBERS OF CONSUMER COUNCIL - continued
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

Responsibilities of Council's Members for the Financial Statements

The Council's members are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such internal control as the
Council's members determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Council's members are
responsible for assessing the Council's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Council's members
either intend to liquidate the Council or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Council's members are responsible for overseeing the Council's
financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control;

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Council's internal control;
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Independent Auditor's Report B ZEEMHRES

TO THE MEMBERS OF CONSUMER COUNCIL - continued
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements -
continued

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Council's members;

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council's members' use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Council's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Council to cease to continue as a going concern; and

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with Council's members regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 July 2019
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Income and Expenditure Statement WZiEHE &K
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 B & _SFS—NE=A=+—HIEE

Income

Government subvention
Non-recurrent projects subventions
Sales of CHOICE magazine
Administrative service income
Interest on bank deposits

Sundry income

Less:

Expenditure

Staff costs

Non-recurrent projects expenses

Testing and research

Office accommodation and related expenses
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment
Production and marketing cost of CHOICE magazine
Office equipment and maintenance

Consumer international membership fees
Consumer education

Publicity and public relations

International conferences and duty visits
Auditor's remuneration

Council member expenses

Interest expenses on secured bank borrowing
Other administrative expenses

Deficit for the year
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NOTES 2019 2018
Bz _F-NEF _B-N\E
HKS HKS

BT BT

110,785,000 106,917,000

5 10,340,232 10,093,630
6 2,673,888 2,708,714
22 1,181,698 1,393,000
787,064 572,720

258,101 260,335

126,025,983 121,945,399

7 94,077,430 88,645,418
8 7,881,409 8,169,027
6,480,414 7,923,673

4,892,621 4,252,942

3,767,507 3,550,233

2,391,347 2,363,682

2,835,764 2,545,499

537,596 452,048

418,776 524,933

748,766 529,376

378,689 162,554

178,500 170,000

46,400 45,200

10,824 11,747

2,504,825 2,857,244

127,150,868 122,203,576
(1,124,885) (258,177)
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Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Prepayments

Current assets

Account receivables, deposits and prepayments
Advances to staffs

Amount due from Consumer Legal Action Fund
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Subscriptions received in advance
Account payables and accrued expenses
Provision for untaken leaves

Secured bank borrowing

Subventions received in advance

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Secured bank borrowing
Subventions received in advance

Represented by:

Leasehold property control account
Equipment control account
Designated fund for approved projects
Accumulated surplus

FERBEE
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FANFRIR

MENEE
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NOTES
BiaE

10
10
10
11

12

13
14

13
14

15
16
17

2019 2018
—F—NE _F-N\E
HKS HKS

BT HETT
57,675,895 52,481,410
352,230 282,464
58,028,125 52,763,874
2,576,397 2,225,541
24,948 20,924
1,181,698 1,393,000
47,478,077 46,649,742
51,261,120 50,289,207
1,329,907 1,178,649
3,429,571 5,820,937
5,802,489 5,530,392
286,201 375,510
21,109,622 14,397,038
31,957,790 27,302,526
19,303,330 22,986,681
77,331,455 75,750,555
- 283,867
4,196,543 1,206,891
4,196,543 1,490,758
73,134,912 74,259,797
47,039,037 47,487,225
1,426,555 3,008,004
4,966,954 3,762,960
19,702,366 20,001,608
73,134,912 74,259,797

The financial statements on pages 78 to 107 were approved and authorised for issue by the members of Consumer Council on 29

July 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

BRE 78 HER 107 EMMBHREACR _F—NAF LA T NARBEEEERE S XS MEL RN - WA FIMRERE

Ms. Gilly Wong Fung-han
=ERIFZ LT
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Y
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Statement of Changes in Equity #E#Ehz*

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 B{E _EFE— NFE=B=+—HIFE

At 1 April 2017

Deficit for the year
Current year addition
Current year utilisation
At 31 March 2018
Deficit for the year
Current year addition
Current year utilisation

At 31 March 2019

R-FB—tFHA—H
rEERRE
REFIBRIMESER
AEEEREER
RZB—-N\F=A=1+—H
REEEE
REEIRINEER
REEERESER
RF-—hF=R=+—H

Leasehold Designated
property  Equipment fund for
control control approved  Accumulated
account account projects surplus
iEk=t7/ES ®E EBEBEZ Y Total
HRBIRIE BRI EEES Bk (=¥
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BIT HIT HIT HIT HIT
(Note 15) (Note 16) (Note 17)
(MEE15)  (MizE16)  (FEE17)
48,558,761 4,706,958 4,594,368 16,657,887 74,517,974
- - - (258,177) (258,177)
- 557,870 876,590 (1,434,460) -
(1,071,536)  (2,256,824)  (1,707,998) 5,036,358 -
47,487,225 3,008,004 3,762,960 20,001,608 74,259,797
- - - (1,124,885) (1,124,885)
576,584 616,166 2,080,584 (3,273,334) -
(1,024,772)  (2,197,615) (876,590) 4,098,977 -
47,039,037 1,426,555 4,966,954 19,702,366 73,134,912
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Statement of Cash Flows RE&REX

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 & _ &

—NE=A=+—AIEE

Operating activities
Deficit for the year
Adjustments for:
Subventions utilisation on property, plant and equipment
Interest expenses
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment
Interest income

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

Increase in account receivables, deposits and prepayments

Decrease in amount due from Consumer Legal Action Fund

Increase in subscriptions received in advance

(Decrease) increase in account payables and accrued
expenses

Increase in provision for untaken leaves
(Increase) decrease in advances to staffs

Cash (used in) generated from operations

Interest paid

Net cash (used in) from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Placement in time deposits with original maturity over three
months

Withdrawal of time deposits with original maturity over
three months

Interest received

Net cash from (used in) investing activities

Financing activities

Subventions utilised for non-recurrent projects
Repayment of bank borrowing

Subventions received for non-recurrent projects

Net cash from (used in) financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

Total bank balances and cash represented by:
Time deposits with original maturity over three months
Cash and cash equivalents

EEEE)

FEBE

BLATIRE fEHAE
W3 - s MR BRER
FEZH
W3 - Wz NERBRIITE
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SEASRONLLERSNE
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HEE TR DB M
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EATRR R B ()
2

KRB B FHERERZIB N
RETFEIMIASZ (3N) B

(AR) REEEFBDE<REE
[SIREES)

(AR) RELEFBREZ
ReWEE

REES)
BEWE BaLRE
HFAZHHBR=ER 2 EHFR

REREHABR=ER 2 EHFR

EURIE

®B (AR) REEBHSTHR
BMEEE

RRIEEEMIRE 2 R
BEBITER

RIER B IR B T2 B
AEESRE (BR) <RSP

ReEkREFERBFEZEM
(L)

RAFENZRERREEERE
REAFEZRERREFERR

BITREBRRCEEITAR
R RA=1E R 2 EHRFR
RELFESFEERE

2019 2018
—_FE FB)N\E
HKS HKS

BT BT
(1,124,885) (258,177)
(2,458,823) (1,924,348)
10,824 11,747
3,767,507 3,550,233
(787,064) (572,720)
(592,441) 806,735
(420,622) (699,586)
211,302 429,000
151,258 257,932
(2,391,366) 338,737
272,097 136,475
(4,024) 5,271
(2,773,796) 1,274,564
(10,824) (11,747)
(2,784,620) 1,262,817
(8,961,992)  (2,765,924)
(28,370,543)  (12,038,276)
44,837,574 11,593,385
787,064 572,720
8,292,103 (2,638,095)
(7,881,409)  (8,169,027)
(373,176) (372,253)
20,042,468 4,136,223
11,787,883 (4,405,057)
17,295,366  (5,780,335)
9,795,163 15,575,498
27,090,529 9,795,163
20,387,548 36,854,579
27,090,529 9,795,163
47,478,077 46,649,742
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 %z:zé_ﬁ

1.

OBJECTIVES AND OPERATION OF THE COUNCIL

The Consumer Council (the "Council") is a body corporate with
perpetual succession established under the Consumer Council
Ordinance 1977 (Chapter 216, Laws of Hong Kong) for the purpose of
protecting and promoting the interests of consumers of goods,
immovable property and services. It is mainly funded by Government
subventions. The Council is also appointed as trustee for the
Consumer Legal Action Fund under a Deed of Trust for the purpose of
offering financial assistance to consumers in seeking legal redress,
remedies and protection.

The address of the registered office and principal place of operation
of the Council is 22nd Floor, K. Wah Centre, 191 Java Road, North
Point, Hong Kong.

The Council is exempted from profits tax under the provision of
section 87 of the Inland Revenue Ordinance.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
also the functional currency of the Council.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

The Council has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and the related Amendments

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions
Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Council's financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 817533 | Appendix 5« 4% F
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF5ERIzRMIEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 i &2 _ S — NE=A=+—HILEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 2. ERFEIRKEBIIZ (BEHMERESER)

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") - continued
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Council has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related interpretations.

The Council has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initially applying this Standard recognised at the date of
initial application, 1 April 2018. Any difference at the date of initial
application is recognised in the opening accumulated surplus and
comparative information has not been restated. Furthermore, in
accordance with the transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the Council has
elected to apply the standard retrospectively only to contracts that
are not completed at 1 April 2018. Accordingly, certain comparative
information may not be comparable as comparative information was
prepared under HKAS 18 Revenue and HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related interpretations. The members of Consumer
Council assessed that there is no material impact on the financial
statements.

The Council recognises revenue from sale of goods which arise from
contracts with customers. Information about the Council's
performance obligations and the accounting policies resulting from
application of HKFRS 15 are disclosed in notes 3.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Council has applied HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and the related consequential amendments to other
HKFRSs.  HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for 1) the
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, 2) expected credit losses ("ECL") for financial assets and 3)
general hedge accounting.

The Council has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the transition
provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the classification and
measurement requirements (including impairment under ECL model)
retrospectively to instruments that have not been derecognised as at
1 April 2018 (date of initial application) and has not applied the
requirements to instruments that have already been derecognised as
at 1 April 2018. The difference between carrying amounts as at 31
March 2018 and the carrying amounts as at 1 April 2018 are
recognised in the opening accumulated surplus and other
components of equity, without restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be comparable
as comparative information was prepared under HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement ("HKAS 39").

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in note 3.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") - continued

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments - continued

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.

All recognized financial assets and financial liabilities that are within
the scope of HKFRS 9 are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Impairment under ECL model

Except for those which had been determined as credit impaired under
HKAS 39, ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost, including
bank balances and other receivables, are assessed on 12-month ECL
basis as there had been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.

As at 1 April 2018, the members of the Council (the "Members")
reviewed and assessed the impairment of all financial assets under
ECL model, and no additional loss allowance is recognised against
accumulated surplus.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Council has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16 Leases?!
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contract?

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?!

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business*

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation?®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material®

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement!

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures?!

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015 - 2017 Cycle!
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") - continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective —
continued

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Eol I o

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of
lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and
lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of
whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. In addition,
HKFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback transactions to be determined
based on the requirements of HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of
the relevant asset should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16 also
includes requirements relating to subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for
lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases
by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement
of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease
payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst
others. For the classification of cash flows, the Council currently
presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in
relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified as
investment properties while other operating lease payments are
presented as operating cash flows. Under the HKFRS 16, lease
payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal
and an interest portion which will be presented as financing and
operating cash flows respectively by the Council.

2.

Notes to the Financial Statements B F5IRFMIETE
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Notes to the Financial Statements BA7ERFMIETE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 B Z _SFS— NE=A=+—HILEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 2. FERHFEIREEBIIZ (FHMFREZER)

3.

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") - continued
HKFRS 16 Leases - continued

Under HKAS 17, the Council has already recognised an asset and a
related finance lease liability for finance lease arrangement and
prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the Council is a
lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes in
classification of these assets depending on whether the Council
presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same line item at
which the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable to lessor,
HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify
a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 March 2019, the Council has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of approximately HK$2,715,634 as disclosed in note 20.
A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet
the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16, and hence the Council will
recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect
of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term
leases.

In addition, the Council currently considers refundable rental deposits
paid of HK$509,781 as rights and obligations under leases to which
HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under
HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right to use
the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such
deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits paid would be considered as additional
lease payments and included in the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits received would be
considered as advance lease payments.

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above.

For other new and amendments to HKFRSs, the members of the
Council anticipate that the application of these new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Council.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by HKICPA.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods services.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BFiRFMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 & & _S—hE=A=+—HI-EE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3. TESHBER-&

The principal accounting policies are set out as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of HKFRS

SETBEREIIAT ¢

BEP WA (REMEF 2 28R EER

15 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

Under HKFRS 15, the Council recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when "control" of the goods
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Council's performance as the Council performs;

e the Council's performance creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Council performs; or

e the Council's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Council and the Council has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Income recognition (prior to 1 April 2018)

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable. Income is reduced for estimated customer returns,
rebates and other similar allowances.

Income is recognised when the amount of income can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the Council and when specific criteria have been met for each of
the Council's activities, as described below.

e Sales of CHOICE and other publications are recognised when
goods are delivered and title has passed.

e Sales of CHOICE on-line subscriptions are recognised when
services are provided.

e Licence fee income for CHOICE on-line is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the relevant licence term.

Government subventions

Government subventions for recurrent projects are recognised when
funds are appropriated by the Government.

Government subventions for non-recurrent projects are recognised as
income over the periods necessary to match with the related costs which
the subventions are intended to compensate on a systematic basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3. FESHBK-E&

Capital contribution

Contribution of cash and capital assets by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the "HKSAR") are
accounted for as capital contribution and recognised in the
appropriate equity account.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Assets in the course of development for production supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost less any impairment loss.
Costs include professional fees capitalised in accordance with the
Council's accounting policy. Such assets are classified to the
appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets, less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the income and
expenditure statement.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the
Council becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
since 1 April 2018. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in income and expenditure statement.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3. FESHBK-&

Financial instruments - continued

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application/initial recognition of a financial
asset the Council may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income ("OCI") if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

T H-&
BERNXLZEFTEEHEENSHE G2 B
B - A B H R B A B KA B RS
RITE - BENRZENNSERE - ReslE
ENE R e AR A ERARIEEHR (40
BA) o BEFORKESBARNR (B3
FTBERERNR « X5 A R E AR ET
BHENNCKRNERRFT ) EREERER
HFERRRIFIR o

TREE

THEENIHRERE (REN 2 #98
JBIRX [ (BB HHEER) %95

HE TGRSR EEBRIZEHE KA

2 -

s ZEMEELURBRAFE - ARRAHWE
BRBRESNE

s BRRFNBERMELANRSAEER
NAEMREERSHIAE

HETIREMNEREEBRUATENE
Wt AEM2EKs (T UATEFELA
Hit2mElas, ) -

s ZEMEELXBRAFE - AERRHWE
BRHRENEREE K

s ANBHRNBERPEENRENEERZ
AAREMAREERSHAE o

FrEEteREEBRUAFEFEL AR
@ RYBRAERERENIFFEEMRE - I8
FEUFEAT (BBYHMEER) 5 3 58 ¥
Bavf, BRMEBAHTHEBNIHEE -

AIRE S EZ R EREVRIER /DR IER R
EEATHEMNEMEEKS ( T HM2E
Wik, ) PEREATENERES -

89



920

CONSUMER COUNCIL HEEZES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {/7#53¥k3% | Appendix 5 « i A

Notes to the Financial Statements 81F53RIzRMIEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 B Z _SFS— NE=A=+—HILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon

application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2) —

continued

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Council manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

In addition, the Council may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured

at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3. TESFBER-&

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2) —
continued

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL - continued

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in income and expenditure statement. The net gain or
loss recognised in income and expenditure statement excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the "other gains and losses" line item.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Council recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including account
receivables, advances to staffs, amount due from Consumer Legal
Action Fund and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Council's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The ECL on these assets are assessed collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Council measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Council recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Council compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Council
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

2T H-&
CREE-&

LA EENDERREE (IRENE 2 #98
BIEX[ES (BB EHEER) W) - &

(O UAFEFELFABRNSREE - &

DUAFEFEBAFABSNESHEENT —
BEREMRZATENE - EAAFERR
RESEERTER - RIS ERERBAIR
DR ENBEZEREEMEENERNKRS
HASEMA T EfthiRas , 1TIEE -

ERIEEREE (IREMET 2 598 EXEMH
(BB BHREER) F9 5)

ZEERRE (EBUBREER) 5 9 RA
FEHRENEREE (BEBUIRR  ZHEtT
BTMAEX  HEERAESHNEBUGIAKIR
THER ) MIEMEEBBRFHRERR - A
EEBRENSENE—ERSEAPER - UK
BRE B RERREERRVEL

2HFAREEBREENER T AENEHER
A TEAENENSHREELNTRIE
EE1E - AR 12 EREMEERERIREABR
RaER#R 12 A A ATRERENENSEMHA
PEYNRI2PAMEEBE - TEDHREK
ZEENELEEBRRERET  YREES
ABENEER « —REERRULHREBDH
B RIAR ST B R Al DU B 3 R SRR A FEORI £F HH 5

%o

ZEEENTAHREEBRRRBENIEREK
fEHBRR IR

HIRFMBEHEMTIR - RESTHENERREES
® 12 EREMEERE - BRIFEEBRERRE
SRREELA  AERESSLIE2MEHREE
BIRFHER - HERORR2PAREES
BRREAERERURBEZOMN AT
REBRBEEE LT -

(—) EERREE L

AEEERRBEEREBURREEE L
Tty ZES SRS T ANKRSEAHR
AENMERESH T RN ERER B H
BAEBONEREH LR o FHARRTE
- ZEERERAENBEENTEE
EMER  BEBECRAUSERAR
LA RIEEAIRIREE B o

91



CONSUMER COUNCIL ;EE&EZE® | FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 845533 | Appendix 5 « fii&k f

Notes to the Financial Statements 81F53RIzRMIEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 B Z _SFS— NE=A=+—HILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3. TESTER-&

Financial instruments - continued SRTH-&

CREE - &

TAZELE (RENEE 2 #9288
(BB BHEER) F9 ) - &

Financial assets - continued

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) - continued

92

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument's external (if available) or internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

ean actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Council
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Council has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Council regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

The Council considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Council, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Council).

Irrespective of the above, the Council considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 60 days past due
unless the Council has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk - continued (—) EERREELA-&
In particular, the following information is taken into account when BEmME  THHEERRECEE LHE
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly: SEBLITEN :
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) - continued

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

(v)

The Council writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the amounts are
over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Council's recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in income and
expenditure statement.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Council in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Council expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) — continued

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL - continued

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the collective
basis:

e Nature of financial instruments (mainly the Council's accounts
receivables, amount due from Consumer Legal Action Fund
and bank balances and cash are each assessed individually);

e Past-due status;
e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e External credit ratings where available.

The Council's account receivables are regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of each debtors continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Council recognises an impairment gain or loss in income and
expenditure statement for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of accounts receivables,
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

Financial assets are classified into financial assets at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3. TEETHR -8

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

e breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest and
principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Council's past experience of collecting payments, an
increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
credit period, observable changes in national of local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment losses was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through income and expenditure
statement to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the
date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instrument

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Council are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, subscriptions
received in advance and subventions received in advance are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3. TEGFHBEKR-&

96

Financial instruments - continued

Derecognition

The Council derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in income and
expenditure statement.

The Council derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Council's obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
income and expenditure statement.

Impairment on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Council reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
the income and expenditure statement.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the
income and expenditure statement.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3. TESTTBCR- &

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Council as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Leasehold land and building

When the Council makes payments for a property interest which
includes both land and building elements, the Council assesses the
classification of each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been
transferred to the Council. The entire lease of the Council's land and
building is classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property,
plant and equipment.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the Council, transactions in
currencies other than the functional currency (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on the settlement of monetary items and on
retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in income and
expenditure statement in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income and
expenditure statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.
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4. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. ERRBER

. SALES OF CHOICE MAGAZINE

Income from sale of CHOICE magazine is recognised at a point in
time when the magazine is delivered to the customer, after
artwork, postage and promotion cost

deduction of printing,
amounts to HK$282,541 (2018: HK$345,032).

HK$6,650,529) in respect of contributions to retirement benefits

scheme.

6. HE (E=E) AT

The Council is funded mainly by Government subventions. The ZESHNKETBREBTER - ZESZEEE
Council members manage its funds to ensure that the Council will ZEES DIEREESHFELE -TEGCE
be able to continue as a going concern. The Council's overall BEERRR L FAEMR o
strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
. NON-RECURRENT PROJECTS SUBVENTIONS 5. IEREMIEE B
2019 2018
—TAE  F-)N\E
HKS HKS
BT BT
Revamp and develop the signature monthly CHOICE SCEMBRARRMN CGRIE) 2,702,918 -
magazine AT
Consumer protection studies REHEB BRI 1,740,570 4,623,262
Development and enhancement of information systems ~ FAZFE(LIE ER L 1,536,660 1,512,008
Renovation and refurbishment project HIBRB AR 1,388,070 81,864
Auto-fuel market study BHABHTHS 1,247,786 1,084,036
ECF Earth 2038's learning journey of sustainable BARRES 2038 #1IR A5TE] 640,299 -
consumption LA RHEEE IR
Accomplishing server virtualisation RREREE L 504,487 558,247
Upgrading of network infrastructure RAREERRE 353,712 343,200
Enhancing training programme IR FIE 8 35,130 147,870
Proper debt management by young consumers FEHEERENEBER - 1,007,052
Time-limited posts B R IREAL - 643,413
Other projects HitpIEE 190,600 92,678
10,340,232 10,093,630

T o
. STAFF COSTS 7. ET A
Staff costs include an amount of HKS$7,137,435 (2018: ETEABE 7,137,435 #r (

6,650,529 87T ) HIRIATBAIT I

=,
TA °

CRIEZY ATIZHERAR 282,541 T (ZF—N\
£F 345,032 JBIT) o FEHIBRENRI « ARMERRET ~ EP
ERHEEERE  NESRAFER 2R AR,

=—)\fF
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MR MEE
—NF=R=+—BLLFE

8. NON-RECURRENT PROJECTS EXPENSES 8. JEREMIEBERH
2019 2018
—=nE ZE-N\E
HKS HKS
ABIT ABIT
Revamp and develop the signature monthly CHOICE BEEMZRARRMEN CGEIE) 2,702,918 -
magazine AT
Consumer protection studies RESHEE RN 1,740,570 4,623,262
Auto-fuel market study HRRETHSE 1,247,787 1,084,036
Renovation and refurbishment project %IE S EREESIEHAENS 989,898 -
ECF Earth 2038's learning journey of sustainable BRIRERES 2038 #hIR AT 640,299 -
consumption ZAFFEHE 2R
Development and enhancement of information systems FEMEEERHL 239,066 64,970
Accomplishing server virtualisation RIREREE L 189,162 407,028
Enhancing training programme ISl Y| 35,130 147,870
Proper debt management by young consumers FECHEERENESEE - 1,007,052
Time-limited posts BRI - 643,413
Upgrading and replacement of e-mail and storage system 12A M ERBEMFHERFKUK - 183,301
and internet security system EMRLT2RAR
Other projects HiIER 96,579 8,095
7,881,409 8,169,027
9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 9. M - WBLRE
Leasehold land
and buildings
in Hong Kong Information Information
under long- systems and systems
term lease Leasehold Office computer Furniture upgrade in Renovation
REBRDA improvement equipment equipment and fixtures Motor progress in progress
EWHE T HEWHE N EERRLR [E3VSe vehicle  H#ETHRHE ETH Total
PSS & ® E i KE BBEH BREAR JioE S &t
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
T BT BT T T BT T BT T
cosT A
At1Aprii2017 RITF—tHF 62,638,435 8,603,318 2,292,369 18,065,807 1,025,828 247,291 92,873,048
mAE—H
Additions NE - - 65,680 1,726,850 - 973,394 2,765,924
Written-off e - - (516,055) (53,350) (122,613) - (692,018)
At 31 March RIZ—N\F 62,638,435 8,603,318 1,841,994 19,739,307 903,215 247,291 973,394 94,946,954
2018 =A=+—H
Additions wNE - 5,077,259 843,779 1,030,394 - 1,878,284 132,276 8,961,992
Written-off b6 - - (1,153,228) (3,507,133) (245,850) - - - (4,906,211)
At 31 March RIZ—hE 62,638,435 13,680,577 1,532,545 17,262,568 657,365 247,291 2,851,678 132,276 99,002,735
2019 =A=+—H
DEPRECIATION *ﬁ%
At 1 April 2017 RIZE—t4& 14,443,358 8,239,634 2,106,139 13,561,162 1,009,745 247,291 39,607,329
mE—H
Charge for the KEETH 875,973 195,563 68,643 2,393,971 16,083 3,550,233
year
Eliminated on THBH PSR 8 - - (516,055) (53,350) (122,613) (692,018)
written-off
At 31 March RIZ—N\F 15,319,331 8,435,197 1,658,727 15,901,783 903,215 247,291 42,465,544
2018 =B=+—H
Chargeforthe oy /errsrus 875,972 148,800 124,831 2,617,904 3,767,507
year
Biminatedon ISR - - (1,153,228) (3507,133)  _(245,850) (4,906,211)
At 31 March RIZ—NEF 16,195,303 8,583,997 630,330 15,012,554 657,365 247,291 41,326,840
2019 =A=t+—8
CARRYING
VALUES FREME
At 31 March RIF—NE 46,443,132 5,096,580 902,215 2,250,014 2,851,678 132,276 57,675,895
2019 =A=+-8
At 31 March RIZ—N\F 47,319,104 168,121 183,267 3,837,524 973,394 52,481,410
2018 =A=+—H
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - contined 9. W WEBRNNE-B

The above items of property, plant and equipment (other than Faltae ~ AR RERE (BRETHNEESRARE

information system and renovation upgrade in progress) are BFRSN ) IR T ERMEFEETING :

depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per

annum:

Leasehold land Over the remaining term of the leases AELH AR FISRHARR

Buildings Over the shorter of their useful lives BF RHEAFEAARS MBS
or the remaining term of the lease ZHSBFEH (LIERRE
of land EHifHE)

Leasehold improvement 20% THEMZEEE 20%

Office equipment 33.33% bNE ] 33.33%

Computer equipment 33.33% e R 33.33%

Furniture and fixtures 33.33% R EE 33.33%

Motor vehicle 33.33% M Eh B Ef 33.33%

Leasehold properties with carrying value of HK$12,588,174 (2018: BRMEEA 12588174 1 ( ZF— )\ £ :

HK$12,700,019) are under mortgage to secure the bank loan of the 12,700,019 #7T ) WIEEWHECIER  (EAEES
Council. All the leasehold properties are under second mortgage in RITEFHIER - TEZSHEEVEHLUBRFAS

favour of the Government. # AEH S ORI -

10. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 10. S REE
Other financial assets included account receivables, advances to HibhemEEBFERIERE « mEB TIREMTE L
staffs and amount due from Consumer Legal Action Fund. The FOBBEERAESHEWEIE - ZEFHIENRIEHE
amounts are unsecured and interest-free. Except for the advances NSRS - rAaE TIRHENBEXEELI=8 (=
to staffs which will be settled by three (2018: three to six) monthly F—)N\F ZFIAE) RAEESN - HithFUEE A
instalments, other amounts are repayable on demand. The Council BERANEE  EESHZEAHRNTESEEEs

assessed the ECL of such balances and considered the relevant ECL BHET Y  RAEBEBHEEERTAELX
is insignificant.

11. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 11. SRITHERR A RS

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term deposits with RITEMRARSBRERSMEEEHBEA=RBA
an original maturity of three months or less and time deposits of DRz @iz UIRRESIHEEBE=EAZE

HK$20,387,548 (2018: HKS$36,854,579) with an original maturity 753Kk 20,387,548 BT ( ZF—/\4 : 36,854,579
over three months. Bank balances and time deposits carry interests BIT) c BITEREEHERNANERESSE
at market rates which ranged from 0.001% to 2.55% (2018: 0.001% 0.001% & 255% < ( ZF— )\ £ : 0.001% &
to 1.79%) per annum. 1.79% ) BIHIRFIZRETE o

12. ACCOUNT PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 12. RN RS A ERTE H

Account payables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable FERERFRERIESR - Rt 55 S BARKS2E
according to the respective credit terms. The Council has financial EEFTLUEE - ZESRERENSHRKEE
risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are B » UIERENREEEEHRARI2EZAT -

paid within the credit timeframe.
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13.

14.

SECURED BANK BORROWING

13. HEFRITER

2019 2018
BN —F-)\F
HKS HKS
BIT BT

Carrying amount repayable: JEERIRMESE :
On demand or within one year BEREMTH—FER 286,201 375,510
More than one year, but not exceeding two years —F P LEREBME - 283,867
286,201 659,377
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under B —EFEREMNREIAE (286,201) (375,510)

current liabilities

- 283,867

The loan which is secured by the Council's properties with carrying
value of HK$12,588,174 (2018: HK$12,700,019) bears interest at the
lower of prime rate or 0.75% over the Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate and will be repayable by monthly instalments, the last of which
falls due in December 2019. The proceeds were used to finance the
acquisition of a leasehold property.

SUBVENTIONS RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

Subventions unexpended at the end of the reporting period:

ZECUMELFRMENERREEDER
12,588,174 #¢ ( —F—/\4 : 12,700,019 #
TT)  ZERERBEMNENFERITRZER
HAIER BT 0.75%MBREEFNERFTE > IASD
HEERZ SRR _F—NE+_BFH -
sl ANEE—HHEWE -

14. FEUUESK

HEARERERGREE A HER

Renovation & refurbishment projects

Development and enhancement of information systems

Auto-fuel market study

Application systems of sustainable development of
CHOICE magazine

Environmental responsibility

Accomplishing server virtualisation

Strengthening consumer protection for Mainland
visitors

Mobile site for the Online Price Watch

Consumer protection studies

Grocery market study

Enhancing training programme

Promotion of new legislation

Upgrading of network infrastructure

Other projects

2019 2018
_F—hE _F-\&E

HKS HKS

BIT BIT

FRIBSEBEEHER 12,415,942 2,352,222
BB EERR 5,903,470 4,982,019
HAMATSMR 2,275,204 2,349,632
(ERE) ARIREKREBER 924,082 -

=HE
RIBEE 685,174 685,174
AR ERL 498,766 1,003,253
R AMHENEESE 484,043 484,043
TS IRTE

B EER—EBEEAEL 380,000 -
REHEEERME 362,935 2,103,505
HEThIGHR 313,184 313,184
hnaEIIEE 289,748 324,878
HEBZ HERE 233,470 233,470
R RS ERERE 159,272 512,983
HibEE 380,875 259,566
25,306,165 15,603,929
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15. LEASEHOLD PROPERTY CONTROL ACCOUNT

The amount arises from capital contribution by the Government for
the acquisition of leasehold properties and appropriation from
general fund for subsequent purchase of capital assets reduced by
depreciation of the related assets.

16. EQUIPMENT CONTROL ACCOUNT

The amount was appropriated from general fund in previous years
for the acquisition of office equipment, computer equipment and
furniture and fixtures and is reduced by depreciation of the related
assets.

17. DESIGNATED FUND FOR APPROVED PROJECTS
The amount represents funds for current projects appropriated for

the below designated activities not yet incurred by the end of the
reporting period:

Online CHOICE operation reserve WL CRE) BHEERE
Office equipment and maintenance P Y S
Testing and research BRI ZE
18. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditure in respect of HEEEBLEBEHISNHE
renovation and acquisition of plant (BEFIHEREHER
and equipment contracted for but not FKEEBECELRRER
provided in the financial statements
19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a. Categories of financial instruments
Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables (including ERREWERT (818
cash and cash equivalents) ERBSEEER)
Amortised cost HH A
Financial liabilities rd =L
Financial liabilities at amortised cost L4 B\ AFIBRAVS Rl
aE

EupE e
NEZA=+—HILEE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 817533 | Appendix 5« 4% F

i

15. HEWFMHIRE
ZRERARARBEREYENBUTRME
ARBERBEEAEENN —RESHEER
REAEEEERIITE -

16. RiBHHRIE
ZHEREFE—RESPEL - ARBERA

ERE - BIERE - BMEEKE - WREHEE
BEHE -

17. RERE ZIEEEE

NI EPTER > BEEBAMUTEEEEHE

??é‘ﬁﬁﬁﬂ@ﬂ)ﬂﬂ’]éﬁ@ :
2019 2018
—_F—NE —S-N\EF
HKS HKS
BIT BIT
2,637,344 2,637,344
249,026 249,026
2,080,584 876,590
4,966,954 3,762,960

18. EARXKIE
2019 2018
—_S—NEF —_B5—\F
HKS HKS
BIT BIT
13,378,345 8,303,585
19. ST R
B. ST AR

2019 2018
BN 5\
HKS HKS
BIT BIT
- 48,737,031
49,371,909 -

3,101,718 3,910,366
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Council's major financial instruments include account
receivables, advances to staffs, amount due from Consumer Legal
Action Fund, bank balances and cash, account payables and
secured bank borrowing. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The Council's members manage and
monitor these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Council's maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Council due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arises from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Council reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual receivable items at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In addition, the Council
performs impairment assessment under ECL model upon
application of HKFRS 9 (2018: incurred loss model) on receivable
balances based on provision matrix. In this regard, the members
of the Council consider that the Council's credit risk is significantly
reduced.

For the advances to staffs and amount due from Consumer Legal
Action Fund, the ECL is insignificant as the Council had not
encountered any difficulties in collecting from the debtors in the
past and is not aware of any financial difficulties being experienced
by these debtors.

The credit risk on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Market risk

Foreign currency risk management

Certain transactions of the Council are denominated in currencies
set out below which are different from the functional currency of
the Council, i.e. Hong Kong dollars, and therefore the Council is
exposed to foreign currency risk. The carrying amounts of the
Council's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements BA7EIRFMIETE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 & & _S—hNWE=A=+—HI-EE

19. $@MTHR-&

2. =REAREEBERNMBR

ZEEMEIZSH T ABRBUIRR A
ETRHMTEAS  HBEFAESHEY
PR~ RITEHRERE - BAIRALEE
RIRTER - ZFEM T ENFBNHERE
Mt T LUKER - BZEem TAMEEN
JRV B B N AR AR AR % AR MY BRI T
X -REeeeBUREZEAR - Lk
RIS RABERBVEE R

15 BRI R B (e AT

RIF-NER_FB-N\F=R=1+—
B ZEENEAEERR (AREAR
REEEBRYESERYBERL) RE
REBIRREKZ2INEEERREHREE
HOBRME(E °

RYBRREEMRECERR  ZEERN
HEHRIG RS IFEUEIRR BRI
B8 0 DR R AN A RIS RR1E R 5908
BEER - 9 RESEER (BBUH
WERERD) ¥ 9 RRKBFABEEEER
X (ZB-N\F: EBERAEN) HE
WS SR B BEATIRVERT S - BT S » &
EENEERRESNEERRAKE
K-

HREEZBENEBABRK KRB BT
EARE - BWESIHTRSEBAHE
EATBRE - Fit - mETRHENTES
FOBBERBESNRBBHENTAREE
BERAEMR -

RRH LT RERBREETRIEBLETRS
EEFRRIRIT - FIt - RITEHRNEE
ERRER -

i/l
S B

ZEENELERFRUTIIGHE - |
RELEBAIFEZESNNEEE- B
U ZEeeEmHIMNERAR - TREHT
wR o ZEGLUNEHEMNEREEREA
R EREELT ¢
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Notes to the Financial Statements 9A753RFzRMIEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 B Z _SFS— NE=A=+—HILEE

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 19. SRITR-&
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies - continued . SRIRBEBEBERNMEBCR - &
Market risk - continued HEEfE - &
Foreign currency risk management - continued SR ETE - 1B
Assets Liabilities
BE aE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—B-hE —F-\F —B-hE B N\E
HKS HKS HKS HKS
BIT HIT HIT AIT
United States dollars ESH 16,020 94,395 - -
Euro BRIT - - 9,731 227,820
British Pound 7 - - - 452,048
The following table indicates the approximate change in the TREREZESEREHE R > FIMNE
Council's income and expenditure statement in response to FEXRMSIBATAEE(L T @ MEAEMHK S 4
reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to EERBEER o
which the Council may have exposure at the end of the reporting
period.
2019 2018
=20 —=\F
Increase Increase
(decrease) Effect on (decrease) Effect on
in foreign income in foreign income
exchange rates (expenditure) exchange rates  (expenditure)
SN HIFA (X ) SIS A (Z
LHCERE) L5 LHERE) Ex))
Z5E
HKS HKS
HIT BIT
United States dollars E" 3% 481 3% 2,832
(3%) (481) (3%) (2,832)
Euro BRI 10% (973) 10% (22,782)
(10%) 973 (10%) 22,782
British Pound WiE 10% - 10% (45,205)
(10%) - (10%) 45,205

In the opinion of the Council's members, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

B ZERR - ARFEERFSATEE
LR 0 R BR A R R B AR - R 8K
ERTARERKRINEZ BB B

BN
7:‘|]11u
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies - continued

Interest rate risk

The Council's income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The Council's
exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its
secured bank borrowing which bears interest at variable rates.
The Council has a policy to place surplus funds with creditable
financial institutions which offer the best rate on a short-term
basis to facilitate the bank loan interest payment. The Council's
members continuously monitor the cash flow interest rate risk.

Liquidity risk

The Council is dependent on the government subventions. The
Council's members consider that the Council is exposed to minimal
liquidity risk as the Government would provide subvention for the
Council based on budgets prepared by the Council annually. The
Council's members also closely monitor the Council's cash flow
position.

Bank balances comprise of short-term deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less and time deposits with an original
maturity over three months.

Liquidity and interest rate table

The following tables detail the Council's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Council can be
required to pay.

<. sRRER

MR MEE
NEZA=F—HILEE

19. SWMTHR-#&

FIE R R

ZEENBALREERSREELSA AT
MBAEBEHTE - TESTE WX
ZERRFEREETIEHFERRITE
Ao EEENBERERRMRESEITR
RAAREESIEM Hﬂiﬂ%ﬁ’]—laﬁ%%rﬂ%
B DEBRTEFRMNENR -MEER
ZENTGRHERE Lfﬁ%/)miﬁqﬂzﬂﬁm °

HEEFER
ZEQLERKREBNER - BRBNE
REZESEFRENATER - Al -

ZEEZERAEEEMAENABES
BRERERE ZESRETEIEE

HEE%/}H;EW(/R °

RITABRBRRERHBE/R=ER IR
MERER  UEKREZIHEEB=EAR
R TEHER

RENERFIEZ

THIRES H\HW'J&TKE#ME%HQE\
BERRBESOHAR - RFRBLRENE
EEURBRERNE ZEEEE@Z%HQE\
BERMERESMNERA °

Weighted
average Total
effective 6 months 6-12 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate or less months 1-5years cash flows amounts
sy NMEA RE+Z —= ﬂiﬁﬁiﬁiﬁﬁ IR
BRI E4YEN [=0E] ik BB x|
% HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BIT BT BT
2019 —FAF

Account payables FEFERER - 2,815,517 - 2,815,517 2,815,517
Secured bank borrowing BIKHEITER 2.41 192,000 97,091 289,091 286,201
3,007,517 97,091 3,104,608 3,101,718

Weighted

average Total
effective 6 months 6-12 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate or less months 1-5years cash flows amounts
il 22 NMEA RE+Z —= ﬂiﬁﬁiﬁiﬁﬁ BRI
BRI LT [=0E] ik BB x|
% HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BIT BT BT
2018 —F/1F

Account payables FE(SBRFK - 3,250,989 - - 3,250,989 3,250,989
Secured bank borrowing BIRIRITER 1.74 192,000 192,000 285,917 669,917 659,377
3,442,989 192,000 285,917 3,920,906 3,910,366
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 %z:zé_ﬁ

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models

based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Council's members consider that the carrying values of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost

in the financial statements approximate their fair values.

20. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Council had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of rented premises and office equipments which fall
due within one year amounting to HK$1,780,454 and HK$935,180 for
(2018: HKS$1,345,771 and HKS$1,734,404

two to five vyears
respectively).

Leases are negotiated for a term ranging from one to five years, with

fixed rental over the terms of the leases.

21. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Council's liabilities from
including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Council's

financing activities,

statement of cash flows from financing activities.

At 1 April 2017 RIZE—tFmMA—H

Financing cash flows MERSRE

Subventions utilisation on M2 ~ HER R B A
property, plant and

equipment
At 31 March 2018 RIF—-\F=A=+—H
Financing cash flows MERERE

Subventions utilisation on WZE ~ HEER RERAR o B (E A
property, plant and
equipment

At 31 March 2019 R_FE—NEF=A=1+—H

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 817533 | Appendix 5« 4% F

MR AT
NEZA=+—HILEE

19. $RMTITR-&

20.

21.

A EBTENAFETE

TRIBENERABAECATEETIREA
u:uZF_f;j _t }ﬁ/ \/Eiﬁiﬁ,fumiﬁﬁrﬁﬁﬁ
ﬂi o

SERERN  EMBRERPLBER
?E’J%T’&ﬁ%&%mﬂ%{ Z AR ER
FEHME

puds
I>> Hﬂ ]
m.-l—

EERERE

NMEPERE > ZEESEATHENESER
HT > RRR—FERAL_ZERT » SHHEBYHE
MW AZRIBERENRRRERENTKED A
F 1,780,454 EITK 935,180 T ( —_F—/\
4 11,345,771 38T K% 1,734,404 T ) o

HEBEMRA—EDFE - BREHHEMMA

METBFMELABEIHER

TERAZESHRETDMES 8B BT
B BERESLIFRSEE - METDAEL
EENARSREIHRESRENETEZH
EMEXRDERKEBETDEENRESRE
ZEE -

Subventions

Secured bank received

borrowing in advance Total
BHEABITER TAWHEETR ast

HKS HKS HKS
HIT IT HIT

(Note 13) (Note 14)

( Pzt 13) (BT 14)
1,031,630 21,561,081 22,592,711
(372,253) (4,032,804) (4,405,057)
- (1,924,348) (1,924,348)
659,377 15,603,929 16,263,306
(373,176) 12,161,060 11,787,884
- (2,458,824) (2,458,824)
25,306,165 25,592,366

286,201
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Notes to the Financial Statements BFS5IRFTMIETE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 & _ S — hE=A=+—HIEE

22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION 22. BB RS

The Council recharged a fee of HK$1,181,698 (2018: HKS1,393,000) ZESRERNWE 1,181,698 Bt (ZF— N\
for admi.nistrative service and offjce support (comprising salary costs A 11,393,000 EiT)  EAREEREEENR
and attributable overhgad) provided to the Consun_ler Legal Action nNES ( THS ) 2HSEREAIASTIE
Fund (the "Funds") during the year. The recharge is in accordance (BEFS T B RAEEY) WER - 2B
with the provision of the Trust Deed governing the Funds and Aﬁﬁﬁg%ZE*ﬁﬁ%qﬂﬂ’\jfﬁy’%ﬁ* ’ ;[gm;é
approved by both the Council and the Board of Administrators of the ; " ‘:/? A /7%;" & EECS
Funds. S HEEFAESRTEESH]Z -
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Product Testing, Market Survey and Study Reports

EoalbR MiRERMARS

1 ELECTRICAL & ELECTRONIC GOODS Em M EFEm

Air Conditioners /5 5. 1%

Air Purifiers Zo5,/5 HTi%

Bluetooth Speakers & 152225

Bookshelf Speakers /352228

Connected Smart Home 2865 &

Electric Storage Water Heaters &7k EE/KIE

Espresso Makers 4321k #

Headphones EfZ *[1]

Multi-function Hot Plates ZIhAEE 2

Smartphones 7825 # (3 updates, total 79 models) (HAR3%> H£79(@EHGE ) *(3]
Smartwatches and Fitness Trackers £9825F 4k S B &) Fi8 *(U

Soundbars AT IHE R

Tablets AR ERS (2 updates, total 14 models) (HFR2% > H14{EFLSE) *[]

The Third Phase of Mandatory Energy Efficiency Labelling Scheme 55 = [ ES st & 14 AR RAZ 4
USB Travel Adaptors jk i@ EEER3EUSBFE B48 * (U

Wi-Fi Routers Wi-Fif& 23

2 PHOTOGRAPHIC EQUIPMENT & SOFTWARE & &2 as M R8st

Internet Security Software for Computers [ /{R R
Mobile Security Apps FH#RZHERRRI
Omnidirectional Camera 360/ Z 2 S48 *[1]

VPN Services & £\ A fBI&IRFE

3 FOOD & HEALTH FOOD PRODUCTS B ERE M

Bread i

Butter and Margarine 4=5i1 5 A &4

Cookies and Sweet Pastries &7 ~ #IEER &%
Different Types of Tofu G /&1 48

Honey %8

Nutrition Values of Tofu /@& %

Organic Snacks BH#4Z &

Plant Sterol and Stanol Margarine ZhEEM 4=
Pre-packaged Chinese Herbal Products for Menstrual Symptoms FRZE:#E X iR & T
Tea-based Beverages XM

Vitamins $Efthan

Szl

- A4 — 4 A A4 A4 A A A4 A4 = -4 =4 A -

- A =

w A4 - — v A A4 = 4 -+

T:Test 35 - S Market Survey M558 & * | : Research Report #t ¥k &5

*  Published in Choice magazine and subsequently on Shopsmart website T (EZ) BTN THHEEET B, @ik
[ 1 Number of times reports of this topic published on Shopsmart website EM A S5 "I E S B TI BT
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4 HEALTH, BEAUTY & PERSONAL CARE PRODUCTS 1Rf# =B AEEAMm

LRl
e Anti-cellulite Creams /& & L 75 I
e Baby Feeding Bottles and Bottle Teats 518 Kz g3 T
e Coeliac Diseases F|LEESIE I
e Disposable Menstrual Pads &4 T

e Dust Mite Removal FREEHH 5% |
e Electronic Cigarettes and Heat-not-burn Tobacco Products ¥ /& K & E I
e Essential Oils & f T
e Facial Cleansers JZTH & & T
e Facial Exfoliating and Peeling Products EERD M 2R E A E & E R S
e Perfumes and Fragrances &7K T
e Wart Removal fiifE I

5 HOUSEHOLD PRODUCTS ZREZFm

e Chef's Knives ETATJ]

e Cot Mattresses 2253 FRKFR15

e Mattresses (Single Size) B A FKiE
e Non-Stick Frying Pans 52

e Pushchairs 8253 F#EE *11

e School Uniforms 1 iR

e Textile Products for Infants and Children 824052 #5155 |
e Toilet Rolls EI#f

e UV Protection Arm Sleeves B4R 4MR T4k T

e T T e B

6 AUTOMOBILE & CYCLING PRODUCTS ;SEE N EHHm

e Bicycle Helmets 28 B8 % *[1] T
e Cars (Comprehensive Testing) /5 EE 2 HHIF T

T:Test 35 - S Market Survey M558 2 - | : Research Report #t ¥k &5
*  Published in Choice magazine and subsequently on Shopsmart website TIE{ 7% (BE) BTN THEHEEE B, @ik
[ 1 Number of times reports of this topic published on Shopsmart website E M NS5 "I E S B TI BT H
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Surveys and Service Study Reports
sl B M AR IR S

Market Surveys / Price Surveys TiZiAE / BRAET
e Airfare Comparison Website #Z &4

e Airline Overbooking Policies ffiZ2/A TR B Z IR

e Annual Supermarket Price Survey fE[EBTHERFHE

e Cataract Surgery Services B NREF MRS

e Children Swimming Classes 52 &5k It

e Credit Card Cash Rebates {5 £ 5 <[]

o Data Roaming Plans B8 555t 2|

e Domestic Helper Insurance Plans SR{E{REkx 2]

e Escort and Transport Services for Elderly &2 IR S iz SRS
e Golfer Insurance Plans R RERETE]

e Hearing Aids Prescription and After-sales Services BhI2 23 5 ic B & 1% ARFS
* Home Care Services _FPIEIE fR#%

e Home Insurance /B 1R

e Infant Milk Powder Price Surveys 2240 i) Ei& A&

e Monthly Stocks Savings Plans B #ti&Z 12|

e Online Price Watch {8 _-EKR—Ei8

e Textbook Expenditure Survey #RIZEEERE

o Textbook Price Survey #HRI ZEKHE

e Textbook Revision Survey # R Z K kS

e Ticket Reselling Platforms PAZEEEFTH

e Travel Insurance Claims Jix 5 {R % B2 22 (&

e Vending Machine Services BB EE RS

In-depth Studies RAZE

e Building Inspection Services 5 1& RS
e Cruise Holidays %5 &R HA

e Personal Credit Rating 18 ASE K
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Trade Practices In-depth Studies and
Consultation Papers Responded To by the Council

CLES P INGEY S P L)

In-depth Studies on Trade Practices

X N g

%%%/ﬁﬁk/\ﬁﬂ: R

* A Report to Advocate Mandatory Cooling-off Period in Hong Kong
{EBRRRRALRBIME S BRI IR S
(19 April 2018)

e Are Students Protected? An In-depth Look Into Overseas Education
Advisory Services
BABRE? HEBINBELARSE
(27 June 2018)

e Risk or Opportunity — A Study on Building an Age-friendly
Consumption Environment
EREigE - LERERSHEERBNMSE
(4 October 2018)

Response to Consultation from the
Government & Other Public Bodies by
the Council

= a8 S EIFE

e Chinese Medicine Division of the Department of Health —
Amendment of the definition of "proprietary Chinese medicine"
under "Chinese Medicine Ordinance" (Cap. 549)
BABPEESBE — BT (PEEER) ($£549%) "HkE, B
B
(25 May 2018)

e Submissions to the Consultation Paper on Periodical Payments for
Future Pecuniary Loss in Personal Injury Cases
HAASGEERRBIITRRSEBLER) FAXFRRINER
(10 September 2018)

e Submission — Consultation Exercise: Proposed Arrangement with
the Mainland on Reciprocal Recognition and Enforcement of
Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters
ot (BN BN ET L 2B LUE B R A TR B HIRNER)
BRXHIRZNER
(24 September 2018)

* Hong Kong Monetary Authority and 11 financial regulators and
related organisations — Global Financial Innovation Network
TRIEHFBEIRSREEER/NEE R - 2R RAIFTRE
(9 October 2018)

Insurance Authority — Draft Guidelines on the (1) Fit and Proper
Criteria for Licensed Insurance Intermediaries under the Insurance
Ordinance (Cap. 41) and (2) Continuing Professional Development
for Licensed Insurance Intermediaries

RBREEER - ) (RBREEE) (F41F) BRFERERRHPN
ATEEANE  WERIES]) ERARQ) (FEARRPNAFTESTE
$I3E1) EEAR

(7 December 2018)

Insurance Authority — Draft Guideline on Financial Needs Analysis
RBEEER - BEAMBREDITNESIEEAR

(13 December 2018)*

Insurance Authority — Draft Guideline on Exercising Power
to Impose Pecuniary Penalty in Respect of Regulated
Persons under the Insurance Ordinance

RBREEER - AERASHAEATITEHMNEREDNIES
BHEA

(27 December 2018)

Insurance Authority — Draft Insurance (Maximum Number
of Authorized Insurers) Rules

REEBER - HH (RBE (BERRBANSSRE) R
Ay S

(27 December 2018)

Commerce and Economic Development Bureau — Proposed
Adoption of Up-to-date Toys Standards and Safety Standards
for Products Listed in the Schedule 2 under the Toys and
Children's Products Safety Ordinance

BBELEEERER - A (ARREERL2EE) THIT
BRRMR28FIMN R B ER  SRAHBREREHE AN
BHAREREMTDRENER

(31 December 2018)

Insurance Authority — Draft Guideline on Cooling-off Period
REXEER - BB FHNES I BEAR

(10 January 2019)*

Insurance Authority — Draft Guideline on Benefit lllustrations
for Long Term Insurance Policies

RBEEER - BRRBRERRENFIRHBNIES I EHEA
(11 January 2019)*

Electricity Legislation Division, Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department — Proposed Amendments of "Guidance
Notes for the Electrical Products (Safety) Regulation"
BETREB AN -

BERH(BRER (Z2) [OHEmR) FLRET

(25 February 2019)

Property Management Services Authority — Proposed
Licensing Regime for Property Management Companies
and Property Management Practitioners

MEEREEER -MEERATRYEEBEAREHEER
(18 February 2019)

Insurance Authority — Draft Guideline on Medical Insurance
Business

RBREEER - BRBRRBREBNESIEHA

(22 February 2019)*

The Law Reform Commission of Hong Kong — Submissions
on Archives Law

BREEREREE -BFEN(BRE) NERE

(11 March 2019)

Competition Commission — Application for a Decision in
relation to a Proposed Pharmaceutical Sales Survey
HPEBEES - RETNEYHERESFLRENRG
(26 March 2019)

* Soft Consultation FEIFTNEAS
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A List of External Committees Attended by

Council Members and Staff

ABLRENBESHNNAREZES

e Centre for Food Safety — Expert Committee on Food
Safety
BYZE2HNL-BYRL2EREES

e CLP Power — Customer Consultative Group

PEBNERAT - FFHARA/NE

e Committee on Reduction of Salt and Sugar in Food

BRERYTENERSS

e Competition Policy Advisory Group
HPRREAERESY

* Consultative Group on Voluntary Health Insurance
Scheme

BRRERETEIFAR/NE

e Department of Health — Pharmacy and Poisons (Listed
Sellers of Poisons) Committee

BEE - ERXLSE GINSEEER) RES

e Department of Justice — Costs Committee

BRE -FBERES

¢ Department of Justice — Working Group on Class Actions

A - e sraR TR/ R

e Disciplinary Tribunal Panel (Electricity) under the
Electricity Ordinance (Cap. 406)

KARERZEE (ENHRAZNATAE)

e Electrical and Mechanical Services Department —
Appeal Board Panel under Energy Efficiency (Labelling
of Products) Ordinance (Cap. 598)

BETRE - LHEES (R (ERIRE) KOS
ABENTN\E)

* Electrical and Mechanical Services Department —
Electrical Safety Advisory Committee

BWETREE - SRLELHEES

e Electrical and Mechanical Services Department — Lift
and Escalator Safety Advisory Committee

WETREE - AR NESREREEARES

e Electrical and Mechanical Services Department —
Task Force on the Review of the Mandatory Energy
Efficiency Labelling Scheme

HETRRE - At RAERETERNER/NME

Electrical and Mechanical Services Department — Task
Force on the Voluntary Energy Efficiency Labelling
Scheme

BTEE - BRMERM R A8 TE/NE

Estate Agents Authority
MEREBEEER

Estate Agents Authority — Finance and Strategic
Development

WEREBEER - WENRRBRESS

Estate Agents Authority — Licensing Committee

wERBEEER-MREES

Estate Agents Authority — Practice and Examination
Committee

WEREBEER -AXLEARES

Food and Health Bureau — Committee on Improving
Supply Chain of Powdered Formula

RUEFELER -EThHEERES

Food and Health Bureau — High Level Steering
Committee on Antimicrobial Resistance

RYMEER -MERMETREESRES

Food and Health Bureau — Steering Committee on
Prevention and Control of Non-communicable Diseases

RYNEER -EFERAMRESERES

Food and Health Bureau — Working Group on Legal,
Privacy & Security Issues of the Steering Committee on
Electronic Health Record Sharing

BYREER -BFREEOBEBERZES - A
%%&ﬁﬁﬁélﬁmﬁ

Hong Kong Accreditation Service — Accreditation
Advisory Board

BEBRE - BABARES

Hong Kong Accreditation Service — Users of HKAS
Accredited Services Liaison Group

BB AR - BARF A Eg/

Hong Kong Accreditation Service — Working Party for
Physical and Mechanical Testing

BB AR — W SR TR/ ME



¢ Hong Kong Federation of Insurers — Insurance Agents
Registration Board

HRERRERS - RERENEELEZES

Hong Kong Internet Registration Corporation Limited —
Consultative and Advisory Panel

EROBMPTMERERAR -EAHAERES

2

Hong Kong Monetary Authority — Banking Consumer
Education Taskforce

EREEREER - RITOHEEHBLENE

Hong Kong Monetary Authority — Deposit-taking
Companies Advisory Committee

EREAEER - B GHRATRHARES

1§

Hong Kong Q-Mark Council — Safeguard Committee
BEBBRERRRE - AVTES

Insurance Claims Complaints Bureau — Insurance Claims
Complaints Panel

RBRRERFR - RERRERFEES

Investor Education Centre — Advisory Committee

REBEHBEHLO -HAHAERED

Labour and Welfare Bureau — SC.Net under the
Community Investment and Inclusion Fund

sSTMENR -HtERERZES (E$) RE8S

Land Registry — Land Titles Ordinance Steering
Committee

THEMGE - TR ERAIBERE S

Law Reform Commission — Sub-Committee on
Cybercrime

FRREEREE - BINIBRFEITINERES

Law Reform Commission — Sub-committee on
Periodical Payments for Future Pecuniary Loss in
Personal Injury Cases

EEREEZEEE - ASGTEEPRPIARSES

KEFNMERESR

Office of the Communications Authority — Radio
Spectrum and Technical Standards Advisory Committee

BNSEBEERMAT - BIRE AL N EATRESRE

B

Office of the Communications Authority —
Telecommunications Regulatory Affairs Advisory
Committee

BAEHEERMAE - BRESHAAETER

Appendix 9 « {8 1

» Office of the Communications Authority —

Telecommunications Users and Consumers Advisory
Committee

ERSHERRHAL - BRBHASREBEBNE

8%

Official Receiver's Office — Services Advisory Committee

WEEEE - REEARES

The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation — Board of
Directors

BERRIBESBRAR -EFRKE

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University — Advisory
Committee of the Institute of Active Ageing

BERETIRE - FRERAARES

Tourism Commission — Advisory Committee on Travel
Agents

REFHE - KT EREREES

Tourism Commission — Travel Industry Compensation
Fund Management Board

REFHE - IREXFEESEERER

Transport Department — Committee on Taxi Service
Quality
ERE-NIRBBEREZES

Transport Department — Quality Public Light Bus
Services Steering Committee
EHE-BEALEREEEEEEES

Vocational Training Council — Beauty Care &
Hairdressing Training Board

BIRE - XAKEEIREER

Vocational Training Council — Retail Training Board

BER - FEXIREESD

Water Supplies Department — Task Force on Voluntary
Water Efficiency Labelling Scheme
IKIBE - AR ST 2 TR/ NE
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Annual Report of

the Consumer Legal Action Fund 2018-19

HEBRNEEFHR 2018-19

Purpose

The Fund was established with an initial Government grant of HK$10
million. A further $10 million was granted by the Government in May
2010 and subsequently in May 2018, another $10 million was further
granted by the Government. The Fund aims to facilitate easier consumer
access to legal remedies by providing legal assistance to consumers,
particularly for cases involving significant public interest and injustice.
Through granting assistance to eligible cases, the Fund also aims to deter
business malpractices and enhance public awareness of consumer rights.

Administration

The Consumer Council, as the Trustee, is responsible, through a Board
of Administrators, for the overall administration and investment of
the Fund. The Board of Administrators is in turn, underpinned by a
Management Committee. The latter, whose members were appointed
by the Commerce and Economic Development Bureau, is responsible
for advising on the eligibility and merits of applications seeking
assistance from the Fund".

Operation

It is the function of the Council to help consumers resolve their
complaints vis-a-vis the traders concerned by means of conciliation.
The Council may, if it considers appropriate or if the complainants
so request, refer cases of complaints to the Fund for consideration.
Consumers may also apply to the Fund directly for assistance.

Generally, in processing an application for assistance, the Fund will
consider whether all other means of dispute resolution have been
exhausted and will assess the case against established eligibility
criteria. Such criteria include whether the case involves significant
consumer interest; whether a large group of consumers have been
or will potentially be adversely affected; whether the case has a
reasonable chance of success; whether assistance to the matter
concerned can promote the consumer cause and produce deterrent
effects on unscrupulous business practices; and whether it is
practicable for the Fund to offer timely assistance.

Deliberation

During the year under review, the Management Committee held 5
meetings and resolved matters by circulation on 14 occasions, while the
Board of Administrators resolved matters by circulation on 10 occasions.

The Consumer Council is the
Trustee of the Consumer Legal
Action Fund ("the Fund") through a
Declaration of Trust executed on 30

November 1994.
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Altogether, the Fund considered 19 applications across different
categories during the year under review.

After thorough consideration, the Fund declined 12 applications
relating to complaints involving financial services, beauty services,
property-related services, telecommunication services, travel-related
services, home renovation services, time-sharing scheme, medical
instrument, technology product, sale of real-property, marriage
proposal arrangement and sale of goods respectively.

During the reporting period, the Fund granted assistance to 4 applications
relating to columbarium, time-sharing scheme and fitness services.

Newly Assisted Cases
1. Columbarium (Case 1) — Refusal to Allow Interment of Ashes

The assisted consumer purchased a niche from a private
columbarium in 2001 intending to inter the ashes of his mother
when the time came. When his mother passed away in 2017, the
columbarium refused to allow interment of her ashes on the grounds
that the deceased’s name stated on the receipt was different from
that on her death certificate and identity card. The incorrect name
on the receipt was written by the columbarium’s staff in 2001
without verification of the deceased’s identity documents.

Noting that the house rules of the columbarium did not provide for
refusal of interment in the case of an incorrect name on the receipt,
the Fund granted assistance on the grounds that the matter had
sufficient legal merits and involved significant consumer interest.
During the reporting period, the Fund instructed solicitors to act for
the assisted consumer. Upon receiving an affirmation explaining
the discrepancy between the names, the columbarium accepted
that both names referred to the same person and agreed to allow
permanent interment upon successful receipt of a licence under the
Private Columbaria Ordinance in due course.

2. Columbarium (Case 2) — Refusal to Allow Interment of Ashes

The assisted consumer’s mother purchased a niche from a private
columbarium in 1996. In 2017, the assisted consumer wanted to
inter her mother’s ashes into the niche after she had passed away.
However, the columbarium refused the request on the grounds
that the deceased’s name stated on the receipt was different from
the name on her death certificate and identity card.

Noting that the Fund had granted legal assistance to a similar case,
and having considered the legal merits and consumer interest
involved, the Fund granted assistance to the assisted consumer.
During the reporting period, the Fund instructed solicitors to act
for the assisted consumer and to safeguard her interests.

3. Time-sharing Scheme — Aggressive Commercial Practices

The assisted consumer was allegedly pressurised to enter into a
vacation club membership agreement by aggressive sales tactics
adopted by the trader including prolonged and persistent sales
pitching and denial of a toilet break.
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The Fund granted assistance on the grounds that this case involved
significant consumer interests. During the reporting period, the
Fund was in the course of engaging solicitors to act for the assisted
consumer with a view to commencing legal action against the trader.

4. Fitness Services — Aggressive Commercial Practices

The assisted consumer, being a person suffering from autism,
entered into 2 membership agreements and 1 personal trainer’s
agreement as a result of the alleged unfair trade practices and
unconscionable conduct of the fitness centre.

The Fund considered that the issue of this case involved significant
consumer interest. Assistance was granted on the basis that the
claim had sufficient legal merits and that the assisted consumer is a
person suffering from mental disorder and the practice of the fitness
centre was highly unscrupulous. Further the Fund was of the view
that assisting the matter would deter similar business malpractices.
By the end of the reporting period, the Fund was in the course of
procuring solicitors to act for the assisted consumer.

Cases Carried over from Previous Year

The Fund continued to work on the following cases brought forward
from the previous year:

1. Headquarters and Professional Staff Cost Charged by a
Management Company of a Residential Housing Estate

The assisted consumers, being individual owners of residential
units of the housing estate, intended to seek a court declaration on
the justifiability of the “headquarters and professional staff cost”
charged by the management company.

During the reporting period, the solicitors instructed by the Fund
requested the management company to provide further accounting
records to justify the “headquarters and professional staff cost”. Since
then, the management company offered various settlement terms
to try and resolve the disputes and the Fund requested the assisted
consumers to convene a meeting with the other owners of the housing
estate in order to consult their views on the proposed settlement terms.
In breach of the Fund’s advice, the assisted consumers insisted not to
accept the offer and refused to convene such a meeting. In view of the
assisted consumers’ refusal to pay heed to the Fund’s advice and after
deliberation, the Fund decided to terminate legal assistance in this matter.

2. Money Lender and Loan Broker — Claims of
Misrepresentation and Deceit

The assisted consumer was allegedly misled by various misrepresentations
made by a money lender and a loan broker into borrowing a mortgage loan.

Assistance was granted to the assisted consumer to take legal actions
against the money lender and the loan broker. During the reporting
period, the claim against the money lender was settled out of court
with the Fund’s approval. As for the loan broker, a default judgment
in favour of the assisted consumer was obtained.
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3. Beauty Products and Services — Recovery of Prepayment

The assisted consumer made multiple bulk prepayment purchases
of beauty products and treatments from an international beauty
brand over the years. While a substantial portion of the purchases
had yet to be collected or consumed, she was informed that the
beauty brand would cease operation in less than 3 months and was
requested to collect and consume all the purchased products and
treatments before operation ceased.

During the reporting period, the parties were in active negotiation
for a settlement. Having considered the advice of external solicitors,
and with the agreement of the Fund, the assisted consumer entered
into a full and final settlement with the trader.

4. Beauty Services — Aggressive Commercial Practices

The assisted consumer was allegedly pressurised into purchasing
beauty services by a beauty salon’s aggressive commercial practices
including charging her credit card without obtaining her consent.

During the reporting period, the parties exchanged witness
statements and attended various pre-trial hearings. With the consent
of the Fund, the assisted consumer settled the case with the beauty
salon satisfactorily and obtained an agreed sum of compensation.

5. Beauty Services — Unfair Trade Practices and
Unconscionable Conduct

The assisted consumer purchased a beauty package as a result of
the alleged misleading practice and unconscionable conduct of a
beauty salon including failure to inform her of the price of the beauty
package before commencement of the treatment.

The Fund granted assistance to the assisted consumer to take legal
action against the beauty salon. Shortly before commencement of
legal proceedings, the assisted consumer informed the Fund that
she wished to withdraw her intended claim for personal reasons.
Assistance was terminated accordingly.

6. Beauty Services — Unfair Trade Practices and
Unconscionable Conduct

The assisted consumer purchased 3 very similar and expensive
membership schemes in one single visit as a result of the alleged
unfair trade practices and unconscionable conduct of a beauty salon.

During the reporting period, the solicitors instructed by the Fund
issued a pre-action letter to the beauty salon which denied liability.
Shortly before commencement of legal proceedings, the beauty salon
offered to settle the intended claim. Eventually, with the agreement
of the Fund, the case was settled at an amount reasonable and
acceptable to the assisted consumer.
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Statistics

Since its establishment and up until the year under review, the Fund
has received a total of 1,361 applications and has granted assistance
to 708 applications®.

Finance

The Fund’s income is derived from:

1. investing the capital sum in fixed deposits;

2. charging applicants a fee of $100 each for cases within the
jurisdiction of the Small Claims Tribunal and $1,000 each for
other court cases;

3. recovering legal costs from defendants in successful cases; and

4. receiving from each successful case a contribution of 10% of the
benefits gained by the assisted consumer.

As at 31 March 2019, the Fund had a balance of approximately
HKS$16 million”.
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Annex B *[f{#%Z,

Applications for Consumer Legal Action Fund
HEBRINETPFEEGE

Number of applications received since 30 November 1994

H1994F11H30BL%R, E2EENRRHE 1,361
Problem solved during application 1EFH 5 HAE A S EARIA 178
Under consideration {37 EH 6
Assistance granted EE S T 1RBI F5E 708
Compensation recovered E5E2(E
e out-of-court settlement FESMNTIfZ 195
e judgment obtained & B5sFEEEY 20
Not pursued further KB IR £
e no recovery prospect K fEE(ERIAE 465
e application withdrawn [FEEE5HI[E] 7
e terminated by the Fund #E&#&1E 15
Referred to Legal Aid #3552 R BNE 1
In process 1E fz 32 5
Referred to Council for policy consideration B3 EE&/EI R R I 3
Referred to Council for conciliation/monitoring SEAEES & e / BaER 10
Assistance declined RS 456




Annex C-[ff4xA

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B4 75383

CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND SE&E&E 5z

‘éﬂ
%bﬁll

Independent Auditor's Report B ZEEMHRES

TO THE TRUSTEE OF CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND
(Established in Hong Kong under the Deed of Trust dated 30 November 1994)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Consumer Legal Action Fund (the
"Fund") set out on pages 126 to 142, which comprise the statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the income and expenditure
statement, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of the Fund's affair as at 31 March 2019, and of its deficit and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the "Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The Board of Administrators of the Fund is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor's Report B %HEIHRSS

TO THE TRUSTEE OF CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND - continued
(Established in Hong Kong under the Deed of Trust dated 30 November 1994)

Responsibilities of Board of Administrators for the Financial Statements

The Board of Administrators is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA, and for such internal control as the Board of Administrators
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Administrators is
responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Administrators either
intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Board of Administrators is responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial
reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion solely to you, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:
. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control;

. obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund's internal control;
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Independent Auditor's Report B ZEEMHRES

TO THE TRUSTEE OF CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND - continued BUEEHEFNESTIEA - &
(Established in Hong Kong under the Deed of Trust dated 30 November 1994) (RERBA—NANANF+—A=+THNEIERRES
KAL)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements - BEIRBRZUBHRRAECEIE-E

continued

. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the e
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the Board of Administrators;

. conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Administrators' use of e
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to
continue as a going concern; and

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial e
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

HERITERESAMERAS S BORZREN
RIEH Gt RAERINE MY

%%%ﬁx%ﬁfﬁﬁgﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁ%%
%? F WRBREEBSMERRE » 8
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B EHERBRBFEERTHBR
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BEZBARE QM ESNERRER
HE - A - RREM4HERATREEHE
ERERERE S R

AT BRE (BERE) <BRIIWS
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among FfIERE IS AEEE (HPEE ) S ITExst
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit Z|£1[E - BT R EARZRIR  SERMR
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we ZE#HARI R E A ERiE4] 2 FAIERERE -

identify during our audit.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu BE) - EEES YT
Certified Public Accountants HESETAD

Hong Kong B

29 July 2019 “F-NAFELAZ+ANH
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Income and Expenditure Statement WXZiEHE &
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 {2 _S—hAE=A=+—HIEE

NOTE 2019 2018
[{§E=4 —FNAEFE ZF-N\E
HKS HKS
BT ABIT

Income WA
Bank interest income SRITHRIBULA 266,847 97,806
Application fee from assisted consumers TEEEEREE 10,800 4,900
Sundry income FETEWA 311,345 -
588,992 102,706

Less: S

Expenditure =
Auditor's remuneration B & 16,000 15,500
Administrative service expenses THRRBEXZE 6 1,181,698 1,393,000
Bank charges IRITER 4,240 3,145
Legal fees for assisted consumers T EEEEME 638,556 375,881
Sundry expenses HMIES 53,344 54,231
1,893,838 1,841,757
Deficit for the year REEER (1,304,846) (1,739,051)
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Statement of Financial Position BA#EiRRR

AT 31 MARCH 2019 A —_F—N4HF=B=1+—H

CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND SE&E&E 5z

‘éﬂ
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Current assets MEBEE

Interest receivables FEWR S

Bank balances SRITHERR

Current liabilities mEaE

Account payables and accrued expenses  FEFERFR M FERTE A
Amount due to the Trustee FEN ZFEAFIE

Net current assets MEEERE
Capital and reserve BERKERE

Capital BEXR

Accumulated deficit REEE

NOTES 2019
st —=nE

HKS
BT
57,010

4 17,744,001

17,801,011

721,074
5 1,181,698

1,902,772

15,898,239

30,000,000
(14,101,761)

15,898,239

2018
—=— N\
HKS

st
40,729

9,309,039

9,349,768

753,683
1,393,000

2,146,683

7,203,085

20,000,000
(12,796,915)

7,203,085

The financial statements on pages 126 to 142 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Administrators on 29 July

2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

N 126 HESE 12 ENUBBRERCR _F-—NAF LA TAABRTE

Mr. Paul Lam Ting-kwok, SC
MERERAEL
ADMINISTRATOR
HITEE

=

=

SHOENIRER A - WHTIRKRERE

Ms. Gilly Wong Fung-han
HREIAZL
ADMINISTRATOR
HITEE
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Statement of Changes in Equity #&E8)%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 & _S— hAE=A=+—HI-EE

Accumulated

Capital deficit Total

EX RigEE (=1

HKS HKS HKS

BT BT BT

At 1 April 2017 RIE—tHImMAE—H 20,000,000 (11,057,864) 8,942,136
Deficit for the year NEE RIS - (1,739,051)  (1,739,051)
At 31 March 2018 N_F—N\F=A=1+—H 20,000,000 (12,796,915) 7,203,085
Injection of capital TE 10,000,000 - 10,000,000
Deficit for the year REEEE - (1,304,846)  (1,304,846)

At 31 March 2019 N_FE—NF=A=1+—H 30,000,000 (14,101,761) 15,898,239
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Statement of Cash Flows IE&
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 Eﬂzﬁ:

INANCIAL STATEMENTS B17#%5%2 | CONSUMER LEGALACTION FUND JEEEFAES

MBI
T-NE=R=t—HLLEE

Operating activities
Deficit for the year
Adjustment for:

Bank interest income

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

Decrease in amount due to the Trustee

(Decrease) increase in account payables and accrued
expenses

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities

Interest received

Placement in time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Withdrawal of time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Net cash (used in) generated from investing activities

Financing activity
Capital injection

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
Total bank balances represented by:

Time deposits with original maturity over three months
Cash and cash equivalents

BEEE

REEER

FLNIIRE AR
RITABHA

LELESEHHLKEHSAE

ENZFEARRZBD
FERANEER (L) #Ein

RREEEBCRETH

REEE)
[Selllsy
HFRRZABBR=EHERFR

RIREHBEB=(ERZEBER

(AR) REREEDRSFR

RMEED
TE

Re MR SSEEEFEEM

RAFEYRERREFEERER
RAFECRERRESERR
SBITRERRET AR

REH BB =8 2 EB TR
RENMREFEER

2019 2018
—FNEFE B-N\F
HKS HK$
HIT HIT
(1,304,846) (1,739,051)
(266,847) (97,806)
(1,571,693) (1,836,857)
(211,302) (429,000)
(32,609) 203,560
(1,815,604) (2,062,297)
250,566 98,945
(33,035,961) (8,526,270)
25,488,289 14,194,462
(7,297,106) 5,767,137
10,000,000 -
887,290 3,704,840
5,149,173 1,444,333
6,036,463 5,149,173
11,707,538 4,159,866
6,036,463 5,149,173
17,744,001 9,309,039
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1. OBIJECTIVES AND OPERATION OF THE FUND

The Consumer Legal Action Fund (the "Fund") was established on 30
November 1994 under a Deed of Trust with the Consumer Council as
the trustee (the "Trustee") for the purpose of offering financial
assistance to consumers in seeking legal redress, remedies and
protection. The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the "HKSAR") has granted a sum of HKS10 million as initial
capital to the Fund. The capital should be repayable to the HKSAR
upon termination. Additional capital amounting to HK$20 million was
further injected by the HKSAR to the Fund on 6 September 2010 and
31 May 2018 with HKS10 million each time, increasing the capital to
HKS30 million.

The address of the registered office and principal place of operation of
the Trustee is 22nd Floor, K. Wah Centre, 191 Java Road, North Point,
Hong Kong.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
also the functional currency of the Fund.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

The Fund has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of

Share-based Payment Transactions

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

Annex C+[f§8%R

Notes to the Financial Statements BA7ERFMIETE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 {2 _S—hE&=A=+—HI-EE
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Notes to the Financial Statements B17EZIRZERMIETE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") - continued

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Fund's financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Fund has applied HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and the related consequential amendments to other
HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for 1) the
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, 2) expected credit losses ("ECL") for financial assets and 3)
general hedge accounting.

The Fund has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including impairment
under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments that have not been
derecognised as at 1 April 2018 (date of initial application) and
has not applied the requirements to instruments that have already
been derecognised as at 1 April 2018. The difference between
carrying amounts as at 31 March 2018 and the carrying
amounts as at 1 April 2018 are recognised in the opening
accumulated deficit and other components of equity, without
restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be comparable
as comparative information was prepared under HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement ("HKAS 39").

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in note 3.

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities

All recognized financial assets and financial liabilities that are within
the scope of HKFRS 9 are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Impairment under ECL model

Except for those which had been determined as credit impaired under
HKAS 39, ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost, including
bank balances and interest receivables, are assessed on 12-month ECL
basis as there had been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.

As at 1 April 2018, the Board of Administrators of the Fund reviewed
and assessed the impairment of all financial assets under ECL model,
and no additional loss allowance is recognised against accumulated
deficit.

2.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 i & —_EFE— WE=B=+—HIFE
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Notes to the Financial Statements BA7ERFMIETE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 {2 _S—hE&=A=+—HI-EE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") - continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Fund has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Leases?

Insurance Contract?

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments®
Definition of a Business*

Prepayment Features with

Compensation?
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Negative

Definition of Material®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement?

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures?!

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015 - 2017
Cycle!

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on

or after 1 January 2020

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with

HKFRSs issued by HKICPA.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost

basis.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for services.

The principal accounting policies are set out as follows:

Revenue recognition

Interest income from financial assets is recognised when it is probable

that the economic benefits will flow to the Fund and the amount of
income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset's net carrying amount on initial recognition.

2.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B17ZiRZEMIETE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 i & —_EF— hE=/A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3. TBEBUR-&

Cost of financial assistance

All costs connected with the provision of financial assistance rendered
to consumers are recorded on an accrual basis and charged against
income and expenditure account in the period incurred. Any costs
recoverable from assisted consumers are recorded as income upon
receipt.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Fund
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
income and expenditure statement.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI"):
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2) —
continued

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling; and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application/initial recognition of a financial
asset the Fund may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income
("ocI") if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Fund manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Fund may irrevocably designate a financial asset that
are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3. TESBUR-&

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2) -
continued

(ii)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in income and expenditure statement. The net gain or
loss recognised in income and expenditure statement excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the "other gains and losses" line item.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Fund recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets which
are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including interest
receivables and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Fund's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The ECL on these assets are assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Fund measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Fund recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) - continued

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Fund compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Fund considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

* an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument's external (if available) or internal credit rating;

¢ significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Fund
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Fund has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Fund regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) - continued

(ii) Definition of default

The Fund considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Fund, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Fund).

Irrespective of the above, the Fund considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 60 days past due
unless the Fund has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Fund writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the amounts are
over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Fund's recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised
in income and expenditure statement.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) - continued

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is
a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Fund in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Fund expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the collective
basis:

e Nature of financial instruments (mainly interest receivables
and bank balances and cash are each assessed separately);

e Past-due status;
e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e External credit ratings where available.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Fund recognises an impairment gain or loss in income and
expenditure statement for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of accounts receivables,
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3. FESHBEK-E&

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

Financial assets are classified into financial assets at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:
e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

e breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest and
principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Fund's past experience of collecting payments, an
increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
credit period, observable changes in national of local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest
rate.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment losses was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through income and
expenditure statement to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3. XESHBK-&

Financial instruments - continued

Financial liabilities and equity instrument

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Fund are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including account payables and accrued expense
and amount due to the Trustee are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Fund derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in income and expenditure
statement.

The Fund derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Fund's obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in income and
expenditure statement.

. BANK BALANCES

Bank balances comprise cash and short-term deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less and time deposits of HK$11,707,538
(2018: HKS$4,159,866) with an original maturity over three months.
Bank balances and time deposits carry interest at market rates which
ranged from 1.7% to 2.5% (2018: 1.2% to 1.25%) per annum.

. AMOUNT DUE TO THE TRUSTEE

The amount represents administrative service expenses payable to the
Trustee, details of which are set out in note 6. The amount is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 6. BAMSRZ

During the year, the Fund incurred administrative service expenses
amounted to HK$1,181,698 (2018: HKS1,393,000) for the administrative
service and office support (comprising salary costs and attributable
overheads) provided to the Fund. The recharge by the Trustee is in
accordance with the provision of the Trust Deed governing the Fund
and approved by both the Trustee and the Board of Administrators of
the Fund.

. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The capital structure of the Fund consists of capital from HKSAR.

The HKSAR has granted a sum of HK$30 million as capital to the Fund.
The Board of Administrators of the Fund manages the Fund's capital to
ensure that the Fund will be able to continue as a going concern. The
overall strategy of capital management remains unchanged from prior
year.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

CREE

Financial assets

SRR BRI

Loans and receivables
(including cash and cash equivalents)

Amortized cost B A

Financial liabilities TRIBE

Financial liabilities at amortised cost DU A5 BR AT
SRBaE

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Fund's major financial instruments include interest receivables
and bank balances and cash, account payables and accrued
expenses and amount due to the Trustee. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The Board of Administrators
of the Fund manage and monitor these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies - continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Fund's maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Fund due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arises from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Board of Administrators of
the Fund reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
receivable item at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In addition, the Fund performs impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of HKFRS 9 (2018: incurred loss model) on
receivable balances individually. In this regard, the Board of
Administrators of the Fund consider that the Fund's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on interest receivables and bank balances are
limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Fund has no significant interest rate risk as it does not have
any interest-bearing financial assets or financial liabilities other
than cash placed with financial institutions.

Liquidity risk

The Fund is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as the Board of
Administrators closely monitors its cash flow.

The earliest date on which the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities, representing non-interest bearing financial liabilities of
the Fund, can be required to pay is 3 months or less.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Board of Administrators of the Fund considers that the carrying
values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair
values.
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Consumer Advice Centres

Consumer Complaint & Enquiry Hotline

H B E R F K B A OB R
Hong Kong F#&[E

North Point Consumer Advice Centre
Room 1410, 14/F, Kodak House Il
39 Healthy Street East, North Point

EFER D
A ERRREIFRATEAE 14121410

Kowloon hEE[E

Consumer Council Services Centre (Tsim Sha Tsui)
3 Ashley Road, Tsim Sha Tsui

HEEREERBHO (K4H)
P [E 35

Sham Shui Po Consumer Advice Centre

G/F, Cheung Sha Wan Government Offices Building
303 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Sham Shui Po
FIKIFEE AT

K RIDEE303RRIVEEFSEMT

Wong Tai Sin Consumer Advice Centre
Unit 201, 2/F, Lung Cheung Office Block
138 Lung Cheung Road, Wong Tai Sin
BEXFEAPD
BARIBENEL38REAM M ARIE21E201ZE

Consumer Council HEEZZEE

Tel &57%:28563113  Fax 5H:2856 3611
Website #3835 - http://www.consumer.org.hk

HE & B3

==

2929 2222

New Territories 152 [&

Sha Tin Consumer Advice Centre

Room 442, 4/F, Shatin Government Offices
1 Sheung Wo Che Road, Sha Tin

59\Enn nﬁ’q:’[.:\

WHEREEIGR

WHBNAE4E4ANE

Tsuen Wan Consumer Advice Centre
Room 105, 1/F,

Princess Alexandra Community Centre
60 Tai Ho Road, Tsuen Wan
EEEHRD

ZEREG05R

TR @ AR 7S 0 112105

Yuen Long Consumer Advice Centre
G/F, Yuen Long District Office Building
269 Castle Peak Road, Yuen Long

TCEREAR L
TUEAE LA (TUERRR) 2695
THRBEHRAENT

E-mail &5 : cc@consumer.org.hk

22/F, K. Wah Centre, 191 Java Road, North Point, Hong Kong

BRI AETEE1IRE L2218



a
o
y
»
>
[+ 4
-

S
(U]
=
(a]
|
=
[+4]

(=)
-l
x
o
=
x
w
=
=)
V)
=z
o
)

=y
L

Sl

ERHHEHR

=

MIX
Paper from

responsible

FSC

ources

cos  FSC™ C006398






